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NARRATIVE REPORT BY THE TREASURER OF THE LIVERPOOL CITY REGION 
COMBINED AUTHORITY 

 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) was established on 1 April 2014 as a 
statutory transport and economic development-related statutory body for Knowsley, 
Liverpool, St Helens, Sefton, Wirral and Halton local authority areas.  The functions of 
LCRCA are set out in legislation and include the transport functions previously undertaken 
by the Merseyside Integrated Transport Authority (MITA) and related powers held by Halton 
Borough Council, plus new responsibilities relating to economic development, regeneration 
and employment and skills across the Liverpool City Region.  Merseytravel acts as the 
executive body which provides professional, strategic and operational advice on transport to 
LCRCA. 
 
LCRCA membership currently comprises the Mayor of Liverpool, the Leaders of the five 
local authorities, and the chair of the Local Enterprise Partnership. 
 
The Statement of Accounts that follow demonstrate LCRCA’s financial performance for the 
financial year ending 31 March 2017.  The purpose of this report is to provide a guide to the 
Authority’s accounts and to summarise its financial and non-financial performance for the 
year.  These accounts are completed in compliance with the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17. 
 
The following provides a brief overview of the various sections of the Annual Statement of 
Accounts. 
 
Statement of Responsibility for the Statement of Ac counts 
 
This outlines the responsibilities of both the Authority and the Treasurer for the production 
and content of the Annual Statement of Accounts. 
 
Statement of Principles and main Accounting Policie s 
 
Details the main accounting policies adopted by the Authority.  
 
Annual Governance Statement 
 
This explains the effectiveness of the governance framework in operation during the financial 
year. 
 
Movement in Reserves Statement 
 
This statement shows the movement in reserves held by the Authority during the financial 
year, splitting them into usable and unusable reserves.  The Deficit/ (Surplus) on the 
Provision of Services shows the cost of providing the Authority’s services under proper 
accounting practice which is different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to 
the General Fund Balance for levy setting purposes.  The Net Increase/ (Decrease) before 
Transfer to Earmarked Reserves line shows the statutory General Fund Balance before any 
discretionary transfers (to)/ from earmarked reserves. 
 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis  
 
This shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from the various resources the 
Authority receives in comparison with those resources consumed or earned by the Authority 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice.  Income and expenditure 
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accounted for under generally accepted accounting policies is presented more fully in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIE S) 
 
This statement shows the cost of providing services in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practices as opposed to the amounts to be funded from the levy.  The Authority 
raises a levy to cover expenditure in accordance with regulation which is not necessarily the 
same as the accounting cost.  Whilst the position detailed in the CIES will differ from that 
shown in the Authority’s management reporting, the levy position is detailed through the 
Movement in Reserves and Expenditure and Funding Analysis. 
 
Balance Sheet 
 
This shows the value of the Authority’s assets and liabilities at the Balance Sheet date.  Net 
assets of the Authority are matched by the reserves (both usable and unusable) held by the 
Authority. 
 
Cash Flow Statement  
 
This statement summarises the actual flows of cash arising from the Authority’s transactions 
during the financial year.  This shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents during the 
year. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
These include additional information on items included within the core financial statements. 
 
Group Accounts 
 
These reflect the full extent of the Authority’s economic activities by reflecting the full extent 
of the Authority’s involvement with its group companies and organisations. 
 
Financial Performance 
 
Revenue Expenditure 2016/17 
 
The Authority’s budget was approved in February 2016 and a levy of £105.4m was agreed 
for 2016/17.  The grant to Merseytravel to support its provision of transport functions was set 
at £94.4m and a separate grant of £27.78m approved to support the operation of the Mersey 
Tunnels.  The table below compares the actual spend against budget for 2016/17. 
 
 Allowed 

Budget 
2016/17 
£’000 

Revised 
Budget 
2016/17 
£’000 

Outturn  
 

2016/17 
£’000 

Variance to 
Revised 
2016/17 
£’000 

Merseytravel grant 94,400 94,400 94,400 - 
Tunnels operations grant 27,780 28,700 27,840 860 
CA running costs 2,000 1,800 3,655 (1,855) 
Net debt management cost 15,576 17,800 18,101 (301) 
Levy (105,400) (105,400) (105,400) - 
Tunnels tolls (40,530) (41,300) (42,741) 1,441 
Other income (773) (2,200) (11,798) 9,598 
Transfer to reserves 6,947 6,200 15,943 9,743 
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The position detailed in the table above is based on actual cost against budget.  These 
figures are difference from those detailed in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Account as the latter is based on proper accounting practice in compliance with the CIPFA 
Code.  Within the main body of the Statement of Accounts, the levy position is detailed in the 
Movement in Reserves and Expenditure and Funding Statement. 
 
Reserves and Balances 
 
Based on the outturn position detailed above the resultant position in respect of the General 
Fund Balances is detailed below. 
 
 2015/16 

 
£’000 

In Year 
Movement 

£’000 

2016/17 
 

£’000 
Capital Reserves 9,021 - 9,021 
Working Balances 1,142 5,980 7,122 
Earmarked Usable Reserves 114,050 9,963 124,013 
Merseytravel Group 72,214 (840) 71,374 
Total  196,427 15,103 211,530 
 
A detailed list of balances and reserves are detailed in the Notes to the Core Financial 
Statements. 
 
Capital Expenditure 2016/17 
 
The Authority spent £95.24m on capital during 2016/17.  This expenditure is summarised 
below. 
 
 2015/16 

£’000 
2016/17 
£’000 

Capital Grants to Merseytravel/ Districts/ other 
recipients (Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital 
under Statute 

 
12,147 

 
87,392 

Non-Current Assets (Property Plant and Equipment) 851 437 
Non-Current Assets (Infrastructure) 5,075 784 
Assets under Construction 0 6,630 
Total  18,073 95,243 
 
The table below details the funding of the capital programme. 
 
 2015/16 

£’000 
2016/17 
£’000 

Capital Grants  12,147 87,392 
Application of Reserves - - 
Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay 5,926 7,500 
Other Contributions - 351 
Total  18,073 95,243 
 
As detailed above a significant proportion of the capital investment made by the Authority 
relates to Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS).  REFCUS 
relates to capital expenditure incurred on assets that are not in the ownership of the 
Authority, in the main this is Merseytravel. 
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The table below details the major schemes funded through the capital programme in 
2016/17. 
 
 2016/17 

£’ 
Kingsway Tunnel rewire 5.65 
Newton le Willows Interchange 3.91 
Sustainable Transport Enhancement Packages 6.39 
Knowsley Expressway 1.87 
North Liverpool Key Corridors 2.09 
Skills capital schemes 8.42 
Halton Curve 1.76 
Rolling Stock Replacement 35.00 
 
Borrowing 
 
As at 31 March 2017, the Authority’s borrowing was £202.71m.  The table below details the 
composition of its debt 
 
 2015/16 

£m 
2016/17 

£m 
PWLB Borrowing 190.64 182.11 
Transferred Debt 22.89 20.60 
Total  213.53 202.71 
 
The movement in borrowing levels relate to the repayment profile of the Authority’s loan 
portfolio as no new borrowing was undertaken during the year.  The Authority’s authorised 
limit for external debt for 2016/17 was £244.98m. 
 
Investments 
 
As part of a prudent investment strategy, the Authority seeks to invest any monies received 
in advance of need with public sector bodies and financial institutions of a high 
creditworthiness.  As at 31 March 2017 the Authority had investments of £221.76m 
compared with £184.61m as at 31 March 2016.  
 
2016/17 Performance and Delivery of Objectives 
 
The Liverpool City Region signed its devolution deal in November 2015, and 2016/17 
represents the second year of operation of the LCRCA.  Under the 2014 order, LCRCA was 
established to exercise the statutory functions relating to transport and employment and 
skills, together with responsibility for housing and spatial planning and economic 
development and regeneration. 
 
Transport Functions 
 
Merseytravel is the executive body responsible for providing professional, strategic and 
operational advice on transport to the Authority.  To support it in its discharge of these 
responsibilities, the Authority pays Merseytravel an annual revenue grant.  The Authority 
also receives Special Rail Grant to support the operation of the devolved local rail franchise.  
In addition, capital funds are received to deliver specific projects from a range of sources, 
including the Local Growth Fund (now the Single Investment Fund), the Department for 
Transport’s Integrated Transport Block (now the Single Transport Pot), European funds and 
funds from other external sources.  
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The Authority, supported by the Transport Committee and Merseytravel, is responsible for 
the following transport services: 
 
·  Transport planning across all modes of transport, including maintaining a statutory 

Local Transport Plan  
 

- Provision and operation of bus stations, interchanges, bus stops and shelters 
and other customer facilities across Merseyside; 

- Production of timetable and route information on all public transport services 
within Merseyside; 

- Provision and operation of a commuter and leisure ferry service on the River 
Mersey along with various other leisure attractions to strengthen the local 
river front economy; 

- Administration of the local rail network through rail franchise of the Merseyrail 
network; 

- Provision and operation of the local national concessionary travel schemes 
along with provision of a suite of prepaid travel tickets for public transport 
across the Merseyside Authorities; 

- Provision of supported bus services in addition to the commercial network in 
Merseyside; and 

- The day to day operational activities of the Mersey Tunnels, including 
maintenance and improvements. 

 
As part of the transitional arrangements that govern the Combined Authority, Halton Borough 
Council remains responsible for funding and delivering public transport services within the 
borough. 
 
In addition to the direct transport services above, the Authority is responsible for servicing 
historic transport related debt and the cost of financing any new debt incurred to support 
capital investment in the transport network. 
 
Devolution Agreement and Progress during 16/17 
 
The city region’s Devolution Agreement was published in November 2015 which built upon 
the powers and aims of the Growth Deal agreed with government earlier in 2014.  The 
Devolution Agreement set out the powers and associated financial resources to be devolved 
to the city region in return for reforms and measures to be delivered by the city region.  
Central to the agreement was the establishment of a reformed governance agreement and 
the creation of a directly elected mayor for the city region.  
 
As part of the devolution agreement, the Mayor and Authority will assume: 
 
·  Responsibility for a consolidated multiyear transport budget; 
·  The ability to franchise bus services in the region; 
·  The ability to manage and maintain the Key Route Network (KRN) from May 2017; 
·  Powers over strategic planning and the development of a spatial development 

strategy for the city region; 
·  Control over a long term funding allocation of £30m per year for 30 years investment 

in a Single Investment Fund; 
·  Responsibility for chairing a 16+ area based skills review and progressing the 

outcomes, together with responsibility for 19+ adult skills funding from 2018/19; 
·  Joint responsibility with the government for designing employment support for harder 

to help claimants; 
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·  Joint working with UKTI to boost trade and investment; and 
·  Responsibility for establishing International Festival of Business (IFB) Liverpool as a 

vital feature in the business calendar in 2018 and 2020. 
 
During the year the Authority has undertaken a significant body of work to support the 
devolution agreement, the key elements of which are detailed below: 
 
·  Mayoral Order approved by the Authority on 9 December 2016; 
·  A revised constitution has been approved by the Authority and implemented from 

April 2017; 
·  A Monitoring and Evaluation Strategy has been developed and agreed with 

Government in respect of the Devolution Deal and its component parts;  
·  An area based review of skills has been completed and the report on the findings 

was published in January 2017.  Work on implementing the findings of the review 
and the consequential development of a local skills strategy is well underway and it is 
envisaged that this will be completed during 2017/18; 

·  Work has been undertaken by the Employment and Skills team to develop and 
implement a Careers Hub; 

·  A business case has been developed in conjunction with the Department for Work 
and Pensions (DWP) to develop and agree a business case for an innovative pilot to 
support those who are hardest to get back to work.  The business case was 
submitted to the Authority for approval in April 2017and work on the pilot will 
commence early in the new financial year; 

·  A Housing Delivery Plan has been completed with assistance from Local 
Partnerships.  Work is also underway in respect of the Statutory Spatial Plan with a 
shared SHELMA being developed and reported to the Housing and Spatial Planning 
Board early in 2017/18; 

·  The Authority has initiated work developing a business case looking at alternative 
methods of service delivery for bus services.  A Strategic Outline Case will be 
considered by the Authority in May 2017; 

·  A Key Route Network (KRN) task group has been established who have been 
working on scoping the KRN across the city region and agreeing a transitional 
approach to management of the KRN by the Authority.  Work is currently underway 
to develop a city region wide KRN asset management plan which will be used to 
develop an operating model, protocols and governance arrangements over the next 
financial year; 

·  In December 2016, the Authority approved the procurement of replacement rolling 
stock for the Merseyrail network.  The replacement of the current rolling stock fleet 
will meet the needs of the city region by providing more reliable fleet with increased 
capacity; 

·  On the back of work undertaken with our advisors, the Authority has agreed an in 
principle long term Special Rail Grant Settlement for the Merseyrail network to 
provide certainty over funding for the devolved rail network until the end of the 
current Merseyrail concession period; 

·  Work has been commenced on considering the options for the devolution of rail 
stations on the Merseyrail network with a Strategic Outline Case being presented to 
the Authority in 2017/18 for consideration; 

·  Significant work on the establishment of the Single Investment Fund (SIF) assurance 
framework, commissioning plans and the establishment of support structures to 
support the delivery of the first SIF bidding and assessment round in December 
2016; and 

·  Work has been undertaken to assess the case for alternative bus delivery model and 
explore the value of and implications of bus franchising. 
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Local Growth Fund 
 
Following a successful bid by the Local Enterprise Partnership  on behalf of the Combined 
Authority and its constituent local authorities, the Authority was awarded £232m between 
2015/16 – 2020/21 to invest in the schemes and interventions that support the economic 
growth of the LCR.  This includes a significant strand of work to enhance the transport 
network across the Liverpool City Region.  This funding now forms part of the Authority’s 
Single Investment Fund and will remain subject to formal annual review with BEIS. 
 
Transport 
 
Schemes, supported from the Local Growth Fund,  have been approved across the city 
region aimed at making significant enhancements to the region’s transport infrastructure; 
both improving the road network and the public transport provision.  Over the period to 
2020/21, the fund will support the delivery of a range of projects including:  
 
·  Infrastructure works to facilitate the re-opening of the Halton Curve, enabling cross 

border train service  
·  A new rail station at Maghull North to service growing population in the area 
·  Improving station facilities at Newton Le Willows, and a new bus/rail interchange  
·  Enhancing the A565, a key corridor from central Liverpool to Sefton 
·  A £40 million package of sustainable transport measures to support growth across 

the Liverpool City Region 
·  The enhancement of the road network in the Knowsley Industrial Park  
·  Improvements to the A580 at a major interchange to St Helens 
·  The maintenance of the strategically vital Silver Jubilee Bridge in Halton. 
 
Skills and Growth 
 
In support of the wider devolution agenda the CA has used LGF to support a number of 
regeneration, business growth and employment and skills related schemes.  These include: 
 
·  International Festival of Business in 2014 and 2016 
·  Alstom North West Technology Centre, Halton 
·  Littlewoods Film Studio  
·  Significant refurbishments at colleges across the city region including Hugh Baird 

College, Riverside College,  Myerscough College, and Knowsley Community 
College.  Skills capital has also been used to support packages or improvements and 
equipment purchases at colleges across the region. 

 
In January 2017 Government confirmed that the Authority would receive a further £71.95m 
in respect of Local Growth Fund 3, which will form a further part of the Single Investment 
Fund.  This thematic bid focused upon transport enhancements needed to support the 
development of sites and premises, including the Key Route Network of roads that connect 
them, and funding for business and innovation to deliver growth.  The funds will form part of 
the LCR’s Single Investment Fund. 
 
Single Investment Fund 
 
As noted above, at its meeting on 15 July 2016, the Authority approved a Single Investment 
Fund (SIF) assurance framework to govern the single pot of funding received in lieu of the 
separate capital funding streams previously received, and was subsequently approved by 
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DCLG.  The SIF is a key tool through which the Mayoral Combined Authority can identify 
and prioritise investment within the city region that best delivers the region’s ambitions for 
economic growth.  The assurance framework guides the prioritisation and management of 
the SIF monies.  
 
A SIF prospectus was agreed in September 2016 which detailed the application process 
together with the deadline for receipt of bids against the first call against the fund.  By the 
deadline of 9 December 2016, some 78 applications had been received with a financial ask 
of £279m.  The table below provides a breakdown of applications by thematic area. 
 

Thematic Area  Number of 
Applications 

Received 

Value of Ask  
(£m) 

Business Growth and Sector Development 21 68 
Research, Development and Innovation 8 22 
Regeneration Development and Culture 33 98 
Transport 11 57 
Housing 5 36 
Total  78 279 
 
In accordance with the SIF assurance framework, independent appraisals were completed 
on all applications based on a single appraisal approach, consistent with HM Treasury 
Green Book and Business Case Appraisal, and then subject to consideration by the 
Authority’s Investment Panel to allow a prioritisation of applications to be progressed to 
Outline Business Case and Full Business Case as appropriate.  A report detailing the 
proposed prioritisation was submitted to the Authority for approval in February 2017.  Based 
on the outcome of this meeting, projects passing the hurdle criteria were invited to submit 
OBC’s or OBC/FBC’s in accordance with predetermined deadlines.  During 2017/18 the 
Combined Authority will take investment decisions on those projects which will contribute to 
the region’s ambitions and utilise its financial and programme management functions to help 
drive delivery.  
 
Risks and Uncertainties 
 
Whilst the CA has existed as an entity since April 2014, the move to a Mayoral CA in May 
2017 has brought with it significant changes in governance.  During the period to March 
2017, resources to support the CA were made available through Merseytravel and other 
partners across the city region, predominantly the constituent local authorities and the LEP.  
 
Whilst these resources were adequate to meet the demands of the CA in 2016-17, the 
changes to governance and operation as a consequence of the appointment of a Metro 
Mayor will necessitate the development of additional capacity across a range of disciplines.  
The need for additional capacity was acknowledged as a priority when the budget for 2017-
18 was set and therefore a budget was set appropriately to address this need.  Further 
interim support will be provided by Merseytravel and districts as necessary to ensure 
effective mobilisation. 
 
As a consequence of the need to mobilise and build capacity within the CA, there will be a 
need to develop and refine appropriate systems and controls. 
 
In support of the devolution deal, the CA has received significant sums of money from 
Government through its single pot which built on and replaced the separate capital funding 
streams previously received by the city region.  Whilst the funding made available affords the 
CA and the wider city region an unprecedented opportunity to invest in schemes that will 
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support economic growth, the profile of funding and method of allocation present delivery 
challenges for the Authority.  There is a clear imperative to be able to demonstrate the 
devolution deal and new funding regimes are delivering the outcomes expected, in the form 
of jobs and growth.  There is a formal annual stocktake with central government, which will 
culminate in a comprehensive review at the end of the first 5 year period.  Rigorous and 
timely monitoring and evaluation of all schemes and interventions delivered will also be vital 
in this respect. 
 
To ensure that the outcomes are achieved within these constraints, the Authority is working 
closely with delivery partners and government to ensure there are adequate processes and 
strategies in place to address this.  
 
The decision to leave the European Union as a result of the EU Referendum on 23 June 
2016, introduces a more general but pervasive uncertainty to the City Region Whilst this will 
not directly impact on the core funding, the Authority has been a recipient of European 
funding and there is a significant degree of uncertainty with regards to the future of such 
funding streams or whether they will be supplemented by the Government if they are 
removed.  The decision to leave the EU may have much wider impacts on the Authority and 
these will be assessed and monitored and fed into the Corporate Risk register to formalise 
the process for management as necessary. 
 
Future Developments 
 
The focus of the next twelve months will largely centre on the development and 
implementation of mayoral priorities in line with the Metro Mayor’s election manifesto and 
progressing this ambitious delivery agenda.  
 
Other key activities to be undertaken during 2017/18 include: 
 
·  Progressing the replacement of the Merseyrail rolling stock.  
·  Engaging with Transport for the North and High Speed 2 Ltd to seek to realise a step 

change to the city region’s connectivity to other towns and cities and to support the 
economic rebalancing of the UK’s economy. 

·  Working to maximise the benefits of the Single Investment Fund. 
·  Understand, and seeking to shape the Brexit negotiations from the perspective of the 

Liverpool City Region, to ensure that the area’s needs and priorities are understood 
and to seek to ensure the best possible outcome for the city region.   

·  Delivering devolution objectives, and working with Government, with specific 
examples including:- 
 

·  Transport 
o To further develop the business case to examine options for alternative bus 

delivery models available through the Bus Services Act 2017 and alternative 
options relating to the management of Merseyrail stations, in the first 
instance. 

o To enact the appropriate powers and introduce streamlined contractual and 
delivery arrangements in respect of the Key Route Network that will be the 
responsibility of the Mayoral Combined Authority. 

o To assess the relative costs and benefits of a range of measures to improve 
air quality via a detailed feasibility study. 
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····  Employment and Skills 
o Oversee the implementation of the Area Review recommendations and 

transfer statutory skills functions and associated processes to the Combined 
Authority. 

o Launch Skills Commission and key lines of enquiry. 
o Produce and publish a Skills Strategy. 
o Implement Apprenticeship Grant for Employers, publish impact report and 

ensure funding is maximised and employers benefit from grants. 
o Implement new Careers Hub model. 
o Plan skills events in IFB 2018. 

 
····  Planning and Housing 

o To continue to develop the Statutory Spatial Plan for the Liverpool City 
Region, based on a shared, statutory evidence base.   

o To secure the completion of statutory Local Plans within each local authority 
area during 2017 

o To progress negotiations on the development of a Land Commission for the 
LCR 

 
·  And across all themes, explore further opportunities for devolution with relevant 

government leads and departments. 
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 
The Authority is required to: 
  
·  make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure 

that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In 
this instance, that Officer is the Treasurer of LCRCA; 

·  manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and 
safeguard its assets; 

·  approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 
Responsibilities of the Treasurer of LCRCA 
 
The Treasurer is responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (“The Code”).  The Statement of Accounts is 
required to present fairly the financial position of the Authority at the accounting date and its 
income and expenditure for the year end 31 March 2016.  In preparing this statement of 
accounts, the Treasurer has: 
 
·  selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 
·  made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
·  complied with the Local Authority Code. 
 
The Treasurer has also: 
 
·  kept proper accounting records which are up to date; 
·  taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 

irregularities. 
 
Responsible Financial Officer’s Certificate 
 
I hereby certify that the Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Authority as at 31 March 2017 and its income and expenditure for the year 
ended 31 March 2017.  
 

 
 
J Fogarty (CPFA) 
Treasurer 
Date 30 June 2017 
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 

 

The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA / “the Authority”) is required by law 
to review their governance arrangements at least once a year.  Preparation and publication 
of an Annual Governance Statement in accordance with the CIPFA/SoLACE Delivering 
Good Governance in Local Government Framework (2016) – referred to as ‘the Framework’ 
– fulfils this requirement.. 

 

The Framework provides a template for organisations against which it can review their 
governance arrangements and outcomes, as detailed below: 

 

 

In particular, the Authority is responsible for ensuring that: 

 

·  Our business is conducted in accordance with all relevant laws and regulations; 
·  Our assets held in public ownership, and the public money we manage are 

safeguarded and properly accounted for;  and 
·  The resources we employ are used economically, efficiently and effectively to 

achieve agreed priorities for the benefit of the Liverpool City Region. 
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In order to ensure that these requirements are being met, proper arrangements need to be in 
place for the governance of our affairs.  This Annual Governance Statement summarises 
these arrangements and provides assurance that these responsibilities are being met. 

 

2. OVERALL GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK 

 

This framework summarises the key elements of the governance framework for the Authority 
in 2016/17: 

 

 

 

 

KEY DOCUMENTS:  

• Code of Corporate Governance 
• Performance Monitoring Arrangements 
• Constitution  
• Finance and Contract Procurement Rules 
• Risk Management Strategy & Risk Register 
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KEY FUNCTIONS: DECISION MAKING  

• Public Meetings 
• Scheme of Delegation 
• Role of Treasurer (s. 73 Officer) 
• Role of Monitoring Officer 
• Role of Secretariat 

 

KEY LEGISLATION / GUIDANCE  

• Accounts & Audit Regulations (2015) 
• Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014  
• National Audit Office’s Code of Audit Practice (2015) 
• CIPFA / Solace: Delivering Good Governance (2016) 
• Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (revised 2017) 

 

Further detail on the composition and function of key bodies is provided (below): 

 

Body  Composition  Function  
The Liverpool City 
Region Combined 
Authority 

Mayor Joe Anderson 
(Chair) 
Liverpool City Council 
Cllr Phil Davies  
Leader: Wirral Council  
Cllr Barry Grunewald 
Leader St Helens Council 
Cllr Ian Mayer  
Leader Sefton Council 
Cllr Andy Moorhead 
Leader Knowsley Council 
Cllr Rob Polhill 
Leader of Halton Council 
Asif Hamid 
Chair of the Liverpool City 
Region LEP 

·  To provide effective 
leadership for the City 
Region  

·  To develop and determine 
policies for the benefit of 
the LCRCA 

·  To support the LCRCA’s 
overall Growth Strategy by 
promoting measures to 
ensure that economic 
growth benefits all our 
communities 

·  To ensure that powers 
and resources devolved 
from government are 
managed based on the 
City Region’s priorities for 
the benefit of all our 
communities. 

Management Team  Head of Paid Service 
Ged Fitzgerald. Chief 
Executive Liverpool City 
Council 
Treasurer  
John Fogarty Director of 
Resources Merseytravel 
Monitoring Officer 
Jeanette McLoughlin  
City Solicitor & Monitoring 
Officer, 
Liverpool City Council 

·  Head of Paid Service is 
responsible for ensuring 
that the LCRCA has 
resources and capacity in 
place to deliver the 
priorities and objectives of 
the LCRCA 

·  The Treasurer is the 
LCRCA’s s.73 (equivalent 
to s.151) officer and is 
responsible for 
safeguarding the LCRCA’s 
financial position and 
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ensuring value for money 
·  The Monitoring Officer is 

responsible for ensuring 
legality and promoting 
high standards of public 
conduct 

• Lead Officers in each 
discipline provide effective 
support across all areas of 
the LCRCA’s activities. 
Roles are determined at 
the annual meeting of 
LCRCA 

Scrutiny Panel  Cllr Kevan Wainwright, 
Halton Borough Council 
Chair of Scrutiny Panel 
 

·  The Scrutiny Committee 
reviews LCRCA policy and 
outcomes across all its 
portfolio areas 

Audit Committee  Cllr Anthony Carr, Sefton 
Council;  
Chair of Audit  Committee 

·  The Audit Committee 
oversees governance, risk 
management, probity and 
accounting arrangements 
of the LCRCA. 

Merseytravel 
Committee 

Chair: Cllr Liam Robinson ·  To provide the CA with 
strategic advice on key 
transport policy areas 

·  To oversee the operation 
of the CA’s Transport 
Executive Function 
(Merseytravel) 
 

Merseytravel  Director General Frank 
Rogers 

·  Passenger Transport 
Executive  

·  Transport advisor to the 
LCRCA 

·  to act as an officer of the 
LCRCA 

·  to fulfil the accountable 
body function on behalf of 
LCRCA 

·  to deliver the transport 
policy as determined by  
LCRCA 

Investment Panel  Chair Jim Gill 
John Fogarty 
Carl Moore 
John Flamson 
 
 
 

·  To consider SIF 
investments and assure 
investment decisions  to 
LCRCA 
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3. COMPLIANCE WITH THE CIPFA/SoLACE FRAMEWORK 

 

The Framework established seven core principles of good governance.  We have assessed 
ourselves against each of these principles and also highlighted areas where our 
arrangements have changed in 2016/17 and where there is a requirement for further change 
and further improvement. 

 

Principle A – Behaving with integrity, demonstratin g strong commitment to ethical 
values and respecting the rule of law  

 

The LCRCA has a Code of Conduct for elected and co-opted members, which was reviewed 
and updated in 2016/17. 

 

This includes the requirement for Members of the Combined Authority to declare any 
interests they may have that have the potential to be influenced by decisions of the LCRCA. 

 

Members are also subject to corresponding and similar arrangements arising from their role 
within their own Local Authorities, and receive training in the requirements.  An Internal Audit 
review of the LCRCA’s Code of Conduct arrangements was conducted in 2015/16 and 
provided a reasonable level of assurance. Recommendations made in this Report were 
implemented during the year. 

 

All LCRCA decisions have to consider legal implications.  Those engaged in activities on 
behalf of the LCRCA receive support from the City Regions Monitoring Officer in this 
respect.  The devolution of powers and responsibilities from Government in 2016/17 and the 
need to prepare for new powers associated with the election of the City Region Mayor in 
2017 has meant that specialist legal advice has had to be sought from external advisors in 
2016/17. 

 

Both the Treasurer and the Monitoring Officer have specific responsibility for ensuring 
legality and for investigating any suspected instances of failure to comply with legal 
requirements.  The Treasurer is obliged to ensure that the LCRCA has adequate Internal 
Audit arrangements in place to assist in meeting these requirements and the LCRCA’s Audit 
Committee oversees the adequacy and appropriateness of this. 
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Principle B - Ensuring openness and comprehensive s takeholder engagement 

 

All meetings are open to the public and all agenda papers and reports are published through 
the LCRCA’s website, except where determined exempt from publication.  The website, 
which is hosted by Knowsley Council also publicises details of any forthcoming consultation 
exercises and a schedule of all future meetings. 

 

The LCRCA’s constitution sets out arrangements for the conduct of meetings and the 
arrangements prioritise openness and transparency, other than on rare and defined 
occasions where confidentiality is deemed appropriate. 

The LCRCA is a legal entity constituted from local authorities and, the Local Enterprise 
Partnership.  As such, stakeholder engagement is key to the LCRCA’s activities.   

 

Formal and informal arrangements are in place to include and engage with partners across 
the City Region and beyond.  The LCRCA also has formal arrangements with West 
Lancashire and Warrington Councils who are each associate members of the LCRCA. 

 

Partnership work and stakeholder engagement has been particularly important in 2016/17 
for example the LCRCA has led on the formal Area Based Review of post-16 education 
across the City Region. 

 

The preparation for a Mayoral Combined Authority as part of the LCRCA’s devolution deal 
with government included significant consultation with stakeholders in 2016/17. 

 

Principle C - Defining outcomes in terms of sustain able economic, social and 
environmental benefits 

 

Securing the benefits of sustainable economic growth is the core purpose of the LCRCA.  
The LCRCA has a vision for economic growth that was revised and approved this year, 
through the Growth Strategy. 

 

The LCRCA has secured resources from government through the devolution deal and 
through the Local Growth Fund mechanism that have allowed it to establish a Single 
Investment Fund (SIF) in 2016/17 that could have a value of over £400m over the next four 
years. 
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In ensuring that these resources deliver outcomes in terms of economic growth, a 
comprehensive agreed assurance framework has been established.   This framework will 
oversee the development, evaluation and management of an ambitious programme of 
interventions by the LCRCA across the span of transport, regeneration, housing, 
employment, skills and culture up to 2020/21 and beyond. 

 

It can be accessed here: 

http://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/ 

 

Priority is given to promoting environmentally sustainable growth and growth that benefits all 
our communities. Independent specialist advice has been procured to provide consistent 
advice on proposed interventions that are benchmarked against the Growth Strategy to 
ensure that the best possible outcomes are achieved. 

 

In order to provide the LCRCA with advice on its investment decisions, an Investment Panel 
was established in 2016/17 that brings in independent expert advice from a range of 
disciplines and provides external challenge within the decision making process. 

The Investment Panel will scrutinise the technical review work and project appraisal. It 
consists of a number of key experts assisting the LCRCA for in purpose. The specific 
responsibilities of the Panel are to:  

·  ensure that value for money is achieved; 

·  consider all new funding applications using an open, objective, transparent 
and equitable process; 

·  make recommendations on individual scheme approvals, investment decision 
making, due diligence on each project and releasing funding; and  

·  monitor, evaluate and review the performance of projects in the fund in 
respect of delivery, expenditure and outputs/outcomes. 

 

Further assurance is provided by the Scrutiny Panel who oversee the activities of the 
LCRCA and ensure that key decisions and policies are translated into effective outcomes. 
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Principle D - Determining the interventions necessa ry to optimise the achievement of 
intended outcomes 

 

Robust arrangements have been put in place in 2016/17 around the LCRCA’s SIF. In 
addition to the development of a comprehensive Assurance Framework and the 
establishment of the Investment Panel, the LCRCA has invested in its deliver capacity. 

 

Central to this is the establishment of programme management expertise to oversee the 
delivery of the Local Growth Fund programme and the related SIF programme.  This has 
also included the identification of thematic lead officers to act as ‘commissioners’ for specific 
activities being promoted through the SIF and to ensure that SIF schemes align with agreed 
policies and priorities. 

 

External assessment is provided through the annual formal review process that we engage 
in with government to ensure that devolved monies are being used in a way that optimises 
opportunities for economic growth. 

 

Principle E - Developing Capacity and Capability 

 

This is an area where the LCRCA acknowledged that further investment was necessary in 
the Annual Governance Statement of 2015/16 in order to manage the additional 
responsibilities and resources associated with the devolution deal. 

 

The immediate priority was to increase capacity in respect of financial management, 
programme management and legal services, and a significant investment of resources and 
skills has been made in each of these key areas. 

 

A number of key appointments and secondments have been made in 2016/17 that have 
significantly increased capability and capacity in these areas. 

 

Of particular importance in 2016/17 was the management of the SIF. Independent 
appraisers have been procured to review the application of each project seeking funding 
support and significant legal capacity is now in place around the SIF.  A Chief Investment 
Officer post was created and has been filled on an interim basis; senior officers from a 
number of constituent districts have been specifically tasked to work on the management of 
the SIF throughout 2016/17. 



22 
FINANCE/MISC/LCRCA2017-17-SE+GROUPS/SJ/JG 
26.06.17 

Principle F -  Managing Risks and Performance through robust inter nal control and 
strong public financial management 

 

Strategic management has been provided by the Head of Paid Service, supported by the 
Chief Executives of each of the district councils and Merseytravel. 

 

In 2017/18 the Statutory Officers will be working closely with the new Elected Mayor to 
determine and populate an appropriate structure for the organisation based on this work 
undertaken in 2016/17 to ensure that the LCRCA’s organisational capacity continues to be 
aligned with its responsibilities and resources. 

 

Risk Management was another area highlighted for improvement in the 2015/16 Annual 
Governance Statement.  Prior to 2016/17 the LCRCA was predominantly a strategic decision 
making body with transport responsibilities discharged by Merseytravel and Halton. 

 

As such, its risk management arrangements reflected those of Merseytravel and Halton.  As 
responsibilities expanded in 2016/17, risk management arrangements have been reviewed 
and the LCRCA has developed a Risk Management Strategy and Corporate Risk Register. 
The Risk Register is maintained at a Corporate Level and is monitored by the Audit 
Committee. 

 

The LCRCA has Financial Regulations and Procurement Rules that are included in its 
comprehensive Constitution.   Internal Audit provides review of the effectiveness of key 
controls and the operation of these policies and regulations. 

 

Merseytravel continue to act as the Accountable Body for the LCRCA, in accordance with 
the requirements of the Constitution and provide Financial Management and Internal Audit 
Services to the LCRCA as part of this arrangement. 

 

The LCRCA also placed reliance on Merseytravel for Programme Management and certain 
legal services in 2016/17, alongside other constituent districts. 

 

A comprehensive Treasury Management Strategy was approved by the LCRCA and governs 
the CA’s approach to Treasury Management risk.  Treasury Management performance is 
monitored and reported to the CA as part of the overall financial monitoring arrangements. 
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Both the SIF Assurance Framework and the annual review process by government include 
formal performance management requirements and these have been reflected in funding 
agreements between the LCRCA and those promoting and delivering schemes on behalf of 
the CA, through both LGF and SIF programmes. 

 

Principle G - Implementing good practices in transp arency, reporting and audit to 
deliver effective accountability. 

 

All LCRCA and Committee meetings are held in public and decisions are published online 
together with supporting information.  Documentation supporting all decisions makes clear 
the financial implications of each decision and alternative options with associated risk. 

 

The LCRCA follows good practice in providing clear and accurate information and has 
developed its reporting profile and its online presence with transparency in mind. 

 

All meetings of the LCRCA are filmed and published through the Knowsley Council YouTube 
Channel on behalf of the CA. 

 

Financial monitoring reports are considered by the LCRCA on a quarterly basis and the 
minutes of all CA committees – including the Merseytravel Committee are reported to the 
CA. 

 

LCRCA meeting agendas, minutes and decisions can be accessed here: 

 

http://www.knowsley.gov.uk/lcr-combined-authority 
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4. REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS 

 

Assurance from Internal and External Auditors 

 

One of the primary sources of assurance that the LCRCA receives is the annual report and 
opinion of the Head of Internal Audit. The 2016/17 LCRCA Annual Audit Plan made 
provision predominantly for  grant assurance work in respect of Growth Fund, European and 
other funding streams, representing just under 80% of the audit work undertaken.  

 

Where capacity permitted, a small programme of additional reviews in respect of the 
Authority’s legal obligation was also included in the Plan. The Authority’s Constitution (Part 
3;C) delegates the operation and maintenance of the Mersey Tunnels to Merseytravel. 
Therefore, provision is made in the Merseytravel Internal Audit Plan to undertake an 
appropriate level of internal audit work to provide assurance that these obligations are being 
met and the Authority places reliance on this work, recognition for which is also made in the 
Authority’s Internal Audit Plan. Merseytravel also provide financial services to the LCRCA 
and all core financial systems were subject to Internal Audit review during the year. 

 

For both the LCRCA and Merseytravel, the Head of Internal Audit was able to provide a 
Reasonable level of assurance for 2016/17. Whilst some areas of control weakness (the 
effectiveness of control) were identified through Internal Audit reviews during 2016/17, 
Substantial or Reasonable assurance was issued in respect of all core financial systems 
work and 87% of all Merseytravel reviews undertaken during the year.  

 

Limited Assurance was issued in respect of six Internal Audit reviews (13%), where the 
control environment under review was found to be weak, none of which related to Combined 
Authority assets or responsibilities.  The Head of Internal Audit is satisfied that 
recommendations to address the issues identified have been accepted by management and 
actions to address these have been implemented or are ongoing. 

 

The LCRCA’s External Auditor, KPMG, provides assurance on the accuracy of the annual 
Statement of Accounts and the adequacy of our arrangements for securing value for money.  
The most recent Audit Letter was issued in September 2016 and gave an unqualified opinion 
on both the accuracy of the accounts and our arrangements in respect of value for money. 

 

  



25 
FINANCE/MISC/LCRCA2017-17-SE+GROUPS/SJ/JG 
26.06.17 

5. KEY AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT IN 2017/18 

 

The following areas are key priorities for 2017/18 that have been identified in the 2016/17 
review of governance: 

 

Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder eng agement.   

 

Developing and enhancing a single dedicated web presence for the LCRCA will be a priority 
in 2017/18. 

 

Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic,  social and environmental 
benefits 

 

This will continue to be particularly important through the allocation of SIF funding. 

 

Determining the interventions necessary to optimise  the achievement of intended 
outcomes 

 

As the LGF, SIF and other associated programmes start to reach key delivery milestones it 
will be important to track, measure and report the outcomes associated with the LCRCA’s 
investment in economic growth.  Updating the assurance framework to reflect new funding 
streams and Mayoral powers will form part of this review. 

 

Developing Capacity and Capability 

 

Following the election of the Liverpool City Region’s first elected Mayor, and the 
corresponding structural changes that will be required to support LCRCA and its Elected 
Mayor.  This will include a review of all support officers’ responsibilities and remit to ensure 
that all are aligned to the Mayoral CA’s priorities and procedures. 

 

Implementing good practices in transparency, report ing and audit to deliver effective 
accountability. 
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The Finance Order associated with the creation of the LCRCA Mayoral Combined Authority 
has a number of requirements for financial budgeting and reporting that will need to be 
satisfied in 2017/18. 

As the LCRCA evolves from a strategic decision making body into a larger body, employing 
staff and delivering functions in its own right, its policies, procedures and arrangements will 
need to evolve correspondingly and this will be a further area for prioritisation in 2017/18. 

 

6. CONCLUSION 

 

The LCRCA is satisfied that appropriate governance arrangements are in place and that the 
governance arrangements in place in 2016/17 were appropriate to the resources and 
responsibilities of the CA in that year. 

The change in governance to a Mayoral CA and the associated increase in resources and 
responsibilities mean that the CA needs to once again adapt to its changing operational 
environment. 

 

Significant enhancements in governance arrangements and capacity were introduced in 
2016/17 and the CA has a solid foundation on which it can continue to expand.  Resources 
have been made available to increase capacity in 2017/18 and this will be a key priority. 

 

The LCRCA is also aware of the critical strategic importance of its Single Investment Fund 
and the importance of ensuring that these resources achieve the maximum benefit in terms 
of outputs cannot be overstated. 

 

Frank Rogers – Interim Head of Paid Service 

 

 

John Fogarty – Treasurer 

 

 

30 June 2017 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LIVER POOL CITY REGION 
COMBINED AUTHORITY 
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MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 
 

The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the 
end on the different reserves held by the authority analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (ie those 
can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’.  
The Statement shows how the movements in year of the authority’s reserves are broken 
down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practices and the statutory adjustments required to return the amounts chargeable to the 
General Fund for the year.  The Net Increase/Decrease line shows the statutory General 
Fund Balance movements in the year following those adjustments. 
 
 Usable 

Reserves 
(General 

Fund 
Balance) 

Unusable 
Reserves 

Total 
Reserves 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Balance as 31 March 2015  96,436 58,180 154,616 
    
Movement in Reserves during 2015/16    
Total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 39,467 0 39,467 

Adjustments between accounting basis and 
funding basis under regulations (note 5) (11,690) 11,690 0 

Increase/(Decrease) in 2015/16 27,777 11,690 39,467 
    
Balance as at 31 March 2016 carried forward 124,213 69,870 194,083 
    
Movement in Reserves during 2016/17    
Total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 21,993 0 21,993 

Adjustments between accounting basis and 
funding basis under regulations (note 5) (6,050) 6,050 0 

Increase/(Decrease) in 2016/17 15,943 6,050 21,993 
    
Balance as at 31 March 2017 carried 
forward 140,156 75,920 216,076 
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT 
 
This Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from 
taxation.  Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with Regulations; this 
may be different from the accounting cost.  The taxation position is shown in the Movement 
in Reserves Statement. 
 

2015/16  2016/17 
Notes  Gross 

Expenditure  
£’000 

Gross 
Income 
£’000 

Net 
Spend 

 
£’000 

 Gross 
Expenditure  

£’000 

Gross 
Income 
£’000 

Net 
Spend 

 
£’000 

 227,764 
0 
 

11,160 
 
 
 

225 
 
 

(152,023) 
 
 

(11,160) 
 
 
 
0 

75,741 
 
 
0 
 
 
 

225 

Transport 
Employment and 
Skills 
Economic 
Development 
and 
Regeneration 
Corporate 
Management 
Mayoral 
Elections 
 

272,218 
11,034 

 
5,768 

 
 
 

612 
 

1,532 

(121,838) 
0 
 

(227) 
 
 
 
0 
 
0 

150,380 
11,034 

 
5,541 

 
 
 

612 
 

1,532 

 239,149 (163,183) 75,966 Net Cost of 
Service 

291,164 (122,065) 169,099 

  0 
 
 
 

9,995 
 
 

(125,428) 

Other Operating 
Expenditure 
 
Financing and 
Investment 
Income 
 
Taxation and 
Non Specific 
Grant Income 

 0 
 
 
 

9,200 
 
 

(200,292) 

 (39,467) (Surplus ) or 
Deficit on the 
Provision of 
Services 

(21,993) 

 0 Remeasurement 
Gains/ Losses 
on Pension 
Assets/ 
Liabilities 

0 
 

 0 Other 
Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 

0 

 (39,467) Total 
Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 

(21,993) 
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BALANCE SHEET 
 
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet Date of the assets and 
liabilities recognised by the authority.  The net assets of the authority (assets less liabilities) 
are matched by the reserves held by the authority.  Reserves are reported in two categories.  
The first category of reserves is usable reserves, ie those reserves that the authority may 
use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any 
statutory limitations on their use (for example the Capital Receipts Reserve that may only be 
used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt).  The second category of reserves is those 
that the authority is not able to use to provide services.  This category of reserves includes 
reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve) where 
amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are sold; and 
reserves that hold timing differences in the Movement in Reserves Statement line 
‘Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’. 
 

As at 31 
March 2016 

 As at 31 
March 2017 

Note 

£’000  £’000  
291,981 Property, Plant and Equipment 289,140 16 

450 Heritage Assets 450  
3,382 Long-term Debtors 3,235 18 

295,813 Long -term Assets  292,825  
    

184,608 Short-term Investments 221,753 24 
600 Inventories 621 20 

6,791 Short-term Debtors 16,288 19 
191,999 Current Assets  238,662  

    
(18,983) Cash and Cash Equivalents (24,987) 24 
(10,820) Short-term Borrowing (10,827) 24 
(51,501) Short-term Creditors (56,120) 21 

(26) Provisions (353) 22 
0 Grant Receipts in Advance (22,148) 9 

(81,330) Current Liabilities  (114,435)  
    

(1,641) Provisions (1,045) 22 
(202,707) Long-term Borrowing (191,880) 24 

(8,051) Other Long-term Liabilities (8,051)  
(212,399) Long -term Liabilities  (200,976)  

    
194,083 Net Assets  216,076  

    
124,213 Usable Reserves 140,156 7 
69,870 Unusable Reserves 75,920 6 

194,083 Total Reserves  216,076  
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CASHFLOW STATEMENT 
 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the authority 
during the reporting period.  The statement shows how the authority generates and uses 
cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing 
activities.  The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of 
the extent to which the operations of the authority are funded by way of taxation and grant 
income or from the recipients of services provided by the authority.  Investing activities 
represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which are 
intended to contribute to the authority’s future service delivery.  Cash flows arising from 
financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital 
(i.e. borrowing) to the authority. 
 
2015/16 

Restated 
 2016/17 Note 

£’000  £’000  
39,467 Net surplus on provision of services  21,993  

    

18,833 
Adjustments to net surplus on the provision of 
services for non-cash movements 5,900 26 

    
58,300 Net cash inflows from Operating Activities  27,893  

    
(57,942) Investing activities  (23,077) 26 

   26 
(13,873) Financing activities  (10,820)  

    

(13,515) Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents (6,004)  

    
(5,468) Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 April (18,983) 26 

    
(18,983) Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 March  (24,987)  
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EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS 
 

2015/16  2016/17 
Net 

Expenditure 
Chargeable 

to the 
General 

Fund 

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis 

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES 

 Net 
Expenditure 
Chargeable 

to the 
General 

Fund 

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis 

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES 

£’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 
87,431 (11,690) 75,741 Highways 

and 
Transport 
Services 

156,429 (6,050) 150,380 

- - - Employment 
& Skills 

11,034 - 11,034 

225 - 225 Corporate 
and 

Democratic 
Core 

612 - 612 

 - - Economic 
Development 

5,541 - 5,541 

- - - Mayoral 
Elections 

1,532 - 1,532 

87,656 (11,690) 75,966 Net Cost of 
Services 

175,149 (6,050) 169,099 

(115,433) 0 (115,433) Other 
Income & 

Expenditure 

(191,092) - (191,092) 

(27,777) (11,690) (39,467) Surplus or 
deficit 

(15,943) (6,050) (21,993) 

(96,436) - - Opening 
General 

Fund 
Balance at 1 

April 

(124,213) - - 

(27,777) - - Less/plus 
Surplus or 
Deficit on 
General 

Fund in Year 

(15,943) - - 

(124,213) - - Closing 
General 

Fund 
Reserves at 

31 March 

(140,156) - - 
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NOTES TO THE PRIMARY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
1.  Accounting Policies 
 
 General Principals 
 
 The Statement of Accounts summarises the Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority’s transactions for the financial year 2016/17 and its position as at 31 March 
2017.  The Authority is required to prepare an Annual Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 which require 
the accounts to be completed in accordance with proper accounting practice.  These 
practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom 2016/17, supported by International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). 

 
 The accounting convention adopted by the statement is principally historic cost, 

modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non current assets and financial 
instruments.  The Statement of Accounts has been completed on a going concern 
basis. 

 
 Accruals of Income and Expenditure 
 
 Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash 

payments are made or received.  In particular:  
 

·  Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Authority transfers 
the significant risks and rewards of ownership to the purchaser and it is 
probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with the 
transaction will flow to the Authority.  

·  Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Authority can 
measure reliably the percentage of completion of the transaction and it is 
probable that economic benefits or service potential associated with the 
transaction will flow to the Authority.  

·  Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there 
is a gap between the date supplies are received and their consumption, they 
are carried as inventories on the Balance Sheet.  

·  Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by 
employees) are recorded as expenditure when the services are received 
rather than when payments are made.  

·  Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted 
for respectively as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective 
interest rate for the relevant financial instrument rather than the cash flows 
fixed or determined by the contract.  

·  Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not 
been received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded 
in the Balance Sheet.  Where debts may not be settled, the balance of 
debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that 
might not be collected.  

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions 
repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are 
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highly liquid investments that mature in three months or less from the date of 
acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with 
insignificant risk of change in value.  
 
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Authority’s 
cash management. 
 
Changes in Accounting Policies, Estimations, Errors  and Prior Period 
Adjustments 
 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting 
practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the 
effect of transactions, other events and conditions on the Authority’s financial position 
or financial performance.  Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively 
(unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts 
for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied. 
 
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or 
to correct a material error.  Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for 
prospectively, ie in the current and future years affected by the change and do not 
give rise to a prior period adjustment. 
 
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by 
amending opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 
 
Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 
 
Services are debited with the following amounts to record the cost of holding non-
current assets during the year:  
 
·  depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service ; 
·  revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there 

are no accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the 
losses can be written off; and 

·  amortisation of intangible assets attributable to the service.  
 

Employee Benefits 
 
Benefits Payable During Employment  
 
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled wholly within 12 months of 
the year-end.  They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave 
and paid sick leave, bonuses and non-monetary benefits (eg cars) for current 
employees and are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which 
employees render service to the Authority.  An accrual is made for the cost of holiday 
entitlements (or any form of leave, eg time off in lieu) earned by employees but not 
taken before the year-end which employees can carry forward into the next financial 
year.  The accrual is made at the wage and salary rates applicable in the following 
accounting year, being the period in which the employee takes the benefit.  The 
accrual is charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but then 
reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday 
entitlements are charged to revenue in the financial year in which the holiday 
absence occurs.  
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Termination Benefits  
 
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Authority 
to terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s 
decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits and are 
charged on an accruals basis to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement at the earlier of when the authority can no longer 
withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the authority recognises costs for a 
restructuring.  
 
Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory 
provisions require the General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable 
by the Authority to the pension fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount 
calculated according to the relevant accounting standards.  In the Movement in 
Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from the Pensions Reserve 
to remove the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination 
benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and 
pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.  
 
Post-employment Benefits  
 
Employees of the Authority are members of a Local Government Pensions Scheme, 
administered by Merseyside Pension Fund.  This is a defined benefit pension 
scheme. 
 
The liabilities of the Merseyside Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are 
included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – 
ie an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement 
benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, 
employee turnover rates, etc, and projections of projected earnings for current 
employees.  
 
Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based 
on the indicative rate of return on high quality corporate bonds.  
The assets of Merseyside Pension Fund attributable to the Authority are included in 
the Balance Sheet at their fair value.  
 
The change in the net pension liability is analysed into the following components:  
 
·  Current service costs 
·  Past service costs (including curtailments) 
·  Pension administration expenses 
·  Net interest expenses (interest on plan assets and liabilities) 
·  Remeasurement gains and losses 
·  Contributions paid to Merseyside Pension Fund 
 
In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the revenue account to 
be charged with the amount payable by the Authority to the pension fund or directly 
to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant 
accounting standards.  In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means that 
there are transfers to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits 
and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to 
the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the 
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year-end.  The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby 
measures the beneficial impact to the revenue reserve of being required to account 
for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as benefits are earned 
by employees.  
 
Discretionary Benefits  
 
The Authority also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement 
benefits in the event of early retirements.  Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result 
of an award to any member of staff (including teachers) are accrued in the year of the 
decision to make the award and accounted for using the same policies as are applied 
to the Local Government Pension Scheme. 
 
Events after the Reporting Period 
 
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and 
unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when 
the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue.  Two types of events can be 
identified:  
 
·  those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the 

reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such 
events  

·  those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – 
the Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a 
category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the 
notes of the nature of the events and their estimated financial effect.  

 
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the 
Statement of Accounts. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
Financial Assets 
 
All investments used by Merseytravel are of the type whereby they are classed as 
'Loans and Receivables' and are initially recognised on the basis of Fair Value, and 
subsequently accounted for using the Amortised Cost basis. In doing so, annual 
credits to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest 
receivable are based on the carrying amount of the asset, multiplied by the effective 
interest rate for the instrument. The interest credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable for the year in the loan 
agreement. 

 
Financial Liabilities  
 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Authority becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially 
measured at fair value and are carried at their amortised cost.  Annual charges to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable are based on the carrying 
amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument.  
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
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payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally 
recognised.  
 
For most of the borrowings that the Authority has, this means that the amount 
presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued 
interest); and interest charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement is the amount payable for the year according to the loan agreement. 
 
Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited 
and debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year of 
repurchase/settlement.  However, where repurchase has taken place as part of a 
restructuring of the loan portfolio that involves the modification or exchange of 
existing instruments, the premium or discount is respectively deducted from or added 
to the amortised cost of the new or modified loan and the write-down to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is spread over the life of the loan 
by an adjustment to the effective interest rate. 
 
Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past 
event that payments due under the contract will not be made, the asset is written 
down and a charge made to the relevant service (for receivables specific to that 
service) or the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  The impairment loss is 
measured as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of 
the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.  
 
Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of an asset are credited or 
debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Government Grants and Contributions 
 
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third 
party contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Authority when there 
is reasonable assurance that:  
 
·  the Authority will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and  
·  the grants or contributions will be received.  
 
Amounts recognised as due to the Council are not credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or 
contribution have been satisfied.  Conditions are stipulations that specify that the 
future economic benefits or service potential embodied in the asset in the form of the 
grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or 
future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor.  
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been 
satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors.  When conditions are 
satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (attributable 
revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income and 
Expenditure (non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, they are reversed out of the Revenue Account in the Movement in 
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Reserves Statement.  Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital 
expenditure, it is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied reserve.  Where it has been 
applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.  Amounts in the Capital 
Grants Unapplied reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once 
they have been applied to fund capital expenditure. 
 
Heritage Assets 
 
Heritage assets are recognised and measured broadly in line with the Authority’s 
accounting policies on Property Plant and Equipment however some of the 
measurement rules and valuation is done based on the most appropriate method 
available. 
 
These assets are to be preserved in trust for future generations because of their 
cultural, environmental or historical associations.  Merseytravel reclassified several 
assets that were previously included within plant and equipment.  These assets are 
now shown separately on the face of the balance sheet.  The Beatles Story owns a 
statue in commemoration of John Lennon, which is also shown in the Group 
accounts. 
 
Intangible Assets 
 
Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are 
controlled by the Authority (eg software licences) is capitalised when it is expected 
that future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to 
the Authority.  Intangible assets are measured at cost and the balance is amortised 
over its useful life to the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement on a straight-line basis typically over a period of 3 years.  
These amortisation charges are not permitted to have an impact on the General 
Fund Balance and are reversed to the Capital Adjustment Account via the Movement 
in Reserves Statement.  
 
Business combinations have been accounted for under IFRS 3 using the purchase 
method.  Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s 
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities is recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
and is not amortised.  After initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses, with the carrying value being reviewed for 
impairment, at least annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 
 
Interests in Companies and Other Entities 
 
The Authority has material interests in companies and other entities that have the 
nature of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures and require it to prepare group 
accounts.  In the Authority’s own single-entity accounts, the interests in companies 
and other entities are recorded as financial assets at cost, less any provision for 
losses. 
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of actual cost and net 
realisable value determined on a first in first out basis.  
 
Leases 
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Under the requirements of IAS 17 Leases, the Authority is required to 
consider/review all its lease arrangements and apply the primary and secondary tests 
detailed in the standard to determine the extent to which the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership lie with the lessor or lessee and therefore whether leases 
should be classified as operating or finance leases, with the subsequent accounting 
treatment being in accordance with the standard.  
 
Authority as Lessee – operating leases 
 
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as an expense of the service(s) benefiting from use of the 
leased property, plant or equipment.  Charges are made on a straight-line basis over 
the life of the lease. 
 
Authority as Lessor – operating leases 
 
Where the Authority grants an operating lease over an item of Property, Plant or 
Equipment, the asset is retained in the Balance Sheet.  Rental income is credited to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on a straight-line basis over 
the life of the lease. 
 
Overheads and Support Services 
 
In line with best practice, charges for the cost of central support services are fully 
charged or apportioned to those that benefit from the supply of service using time 
recording and other appropriate methods. 
 
Property Plant and Equipment 
 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply 
of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are 
expected to be used during more than one financial year are classified as Property, 
Plant and Equipment.  
 
Recognition  
 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and 
Equipment is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the 
future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the 
Authority and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  Expenditure that 
maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver future economic benefits 
or service potential (ie repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it is 
incurred.  
 
Measurement  
 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:  
 
·  the purchase price; and 
·  any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 

necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. 
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The Authority does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under 
construction.  
 
The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, 
unless the acquisition does not have commercial substance (ie it will not lead to a 
variation in the cash flows of the Authority).  In the latter case, where an asset is 
acquired via an exchange, the cost of the acquisition is the carrying amount of the 
asset given up by the Authority.  
 
Donated assets are measured initially at fair value.  The difference between fair value 
and any consideration paid is credited to the Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income 
and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, 
unless the donation has been made conditionally.  Until conditions are satisfied, the 
gain is held in the Donated Assets Account.  Where gains are credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, they are reversed out of the 
General Fund Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement.  
 

 Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement 
bases:  

 
·  infrastructure, community assets and assets under construction – depreciated 

historical cost; 
·  surplus assets – the current value measurement base is fair value, estimated 

at highest and best use from a market participant’s perspective; and 
·  all other assets – current value, determined as the amount that would be paid 

for the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV).  
 
Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist 
nature of an asset, depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of 
current value.  
 
Where non-property assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both), 
depreciated historical cost basis is used as a proxy for current value.  
 
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently 
regularly to ensure that their carrying amount is not materially different from their 
current value at the year-end, but as a minimum every five years.  Increases in 
valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise 
unrealised gains.  Gains might be credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services where they arise from the reversal of a loss previously charged to a 
service.  
 
Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by:  
 
·  where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 

Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that 
balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains)  

·  where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient 
balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
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The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 
only, the date of its formal implementation.  Gains arising before that date have been 
consolidated into the Capital Adjustment Account.  
 
Impairment  
 
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an 
asset may be impaired.  Where indications exist and any possible differences are 
estimated to be material, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, 
where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is 
recognised for the shortfall.  
 
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by: 
 
·  where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation 

Reserve, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that 
balance (up to the amount of the accumulated gains)  

·  where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient 
balance, the carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant 
service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 
Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the 
relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up 
to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been 
charged if the loss had not been recognised. 
 
Depreciation  
 
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the 
systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives.  An 
exception is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (ie freehold land 
and certain Community Assets) and assets that are not yet available for use (ie 
assets under construction).  
 
Depreciation on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets is calculated by allocating 
the asset value over the period expected to benefit from their use on a straight-line 
basis.  All assets are assessed individually in relation to their asset lives for the 
purpose of calculating depreciation.  Conditions relative to each asset are considered 
in arriving at this determination. 
 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference 
between current value depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that 
would have been chargeable based on their historical cost being transferred each 
year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Disposal and Non- Current Assets Held for Sale 
 
When it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through its continuing use, it is 
reclassified as an Asset Held for Sale.  The asset is revalued immediately before 
reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount and fair value less costs 
to sell.  Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, the loss 
is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.  Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of 
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any previously losses recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on Provision of Services.  
Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale.  
 
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are 
reclassified back to non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying 
amount before they were classified as held for sale; adjusted for depreciation, 
amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised had they not been 
classified as Held for Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision 
not to sell.  
 
Assets that are to be abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for 
Sale.  
 
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset 
in the Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for 
Sale) is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  Receipts 
from disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (ie netted off 
against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal).  Any revaluation gains 
accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account.  
 
Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital 
receipts and can then only be used for new capital investment [or set aside to reduce 
the Authority’s underlying need to borrow (the capital financing requirement) 
(England and Wales)].  Receipts are appropriated to the Reserve from the General 
Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against the levy, as the cost of non-
current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing.  
Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent A ssets 
 
Provisions  
 
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Authority a legal 
or constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic 
benefits or service potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation.  
 
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the authority 
becomes aware of the obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the 
balance sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into 
account relevant risks and uncertainties.  
 
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the 
Balance Sheet.  Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year 
– where it becomes less than probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now 
be required (or a lower settlement than anticipated is made), the provision is 
reversed and credited back to the relevant service.  
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Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be 
recovered from another party (eg from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as 
income for the relevant service if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 
received if the authority settles the obligation. 
 
Contingent Liability 
 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a 
possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 
otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the authority.  
Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise 
be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required or 
the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.  Contingent liabilities are 
not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts. 
 
Contingent Assets 
 
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a 
possible asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 
otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the authority.  
Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to 
the accounts where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or 
service potential. 
 
Reserves 
 
The Authority sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to 
cover contingencies.  Reserves are shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the 
appropriate service in that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current 
assets, financial instruments, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent 
usable resources for the Authority – these reserves are explained in the relevant 
policies. 
 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statu te (REFCUS) 
 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory 
provisions but that does not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been 
charged as expenditure to the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in the year.  Where the Authority has determined to meet the 
cost of this expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to the Capital 
Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no 
impact on the level of levy. 

 
Value Added Tax (VAT) 
 
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable 
from Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs.  VAT receivable is excluded from income. 
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2.  Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Un certainties 
 

The preparation of the Authority’s accounts requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported as 
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities reported in the accounts.  Uncertainty 
about these assumption and estimates could result in outcomes that require a 
material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in future periods.  
 
In terms of the Authority’s Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2017, the items for which 
there is a significant risk of material adjustment are as follows: 
 
·  Pension benefits: the cost of defined benefit pension plans is determined 

using an independent actuarial valuation, involving the use of assumptions 
about discount rates, returns on assets, future salary increases, mortality 
rates and future pension increases.  Such assumptions are reviewed are 
each period end and determined jointly between the pension fund 
management and the actuaries. 

·  Property, Plant and Equipment: for assets held at historical cost the carrying 
value is initial cost less accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation is calculated 
on a straight line basis over the expected useful life, which is the best 
estimate of the life of the asset as provided for by independent experts.  For 
assets held at valuation, a full valuation is performed every five years by an 
independent external valuer.  Impairment reviews are conducted annually by 
management. 

·  The Authority has examined all its significant lease agreements to establish 
whether these should be classed as operational or finance leases.  Where the 
application of IAS 17 does not provide a definitive solution, judgement is 
applied in determining whether the lease is operating or financial.  Based on 
this assessment all the Authority’s leases have been assessed to be 
operational.  

·  Provisions for doubtful debts: as at 31 March 2017 the Authority has £16.29m 
short term debtors.  The recoverability of debts are reviewed annually and 
provision is made for any debts over 12 months old or for which there is 
evidence of the initial debt being unrecoverable. 

·  Group accounts: the Authority has a number of interests in other entities 
which fall within the group boundary.  Whilst some of these are deemed to be 
material and are therefore consolidated into group accounts, others are 
considered not sufficiently material to warrant full group account disclosures.  
To ensure there is sufficient visibility on these arrangements, narrative 
disclosures on these arrangements are included within note 14. 

 
3. Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted  
 
 There are several amendments to International Financial Reporting Standards that 

will apply from 1 April 2017, namely reporting of pension fund scheme transaction 
costs and reporting on investment concentration, however these are not expected to 
have a material impact on the Authority’s accounts and as such no further disclosure 
is required. 

 
4.  Changes in Accounting Policy 
 
 The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 

has introduced new formats and reporting requirements for the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement and the Movement in Reserves Statement, 
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alongside the introduction of the new Expenditure and Funding Analysis as a result of 
the CIPFA Telling the Story review of the presentation of local authority financial 
statements.  Under the revised Code, the service analysis on the face of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement must be based on the 
organisational structure under which the organisation  operates and manages its 
services.  The statement has consequently been prepared on the basis on which 
Merseytravel report its budget and in year monitoring. 

 
In restating the 2015/16 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, grant 
income of £1.96m in respect of Bus Service Operator Grant has been reclassified 
from Taxation and General Grants and credited to grant income against Bus Services 
as it is felt that this is a more appropriate accounting treatment. The change effected 
is presentational only with no impact on the Surplus on Provision of Services.  

 
5.  Adjustments between Accounting Base and Funding u nder Regulation 
 
 This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income 

and expenditure recognised by the Authority in the year in accordance with proper 
accounting practice to the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as 
being available to the Authority to meet future capital and revenue expenditure.  The 
following sets out a description of the reserves that the adjustments are made 
against. 
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2015/16 
£’000 

 2016717 
£’000 

 Adjustments to Revenue Resources   
 Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are 
different from revenue in the year in accordance with 
statutory requirements 

 

13 Financial instruments (transferred to the Financial 
Instruments Adjustments Account) 

13 

3,504 Reversal of entries included in the Surplus on the Provision 
of Services in relation to capital expenditure (these items 
are charged to the Capital Adjustment Account) 

10,685 

3,517 Total Adjustment to Revenue Reserves  10,698 
 Adjustments between Capital and Revenue Resources   

(9,280) Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (transfer from 
the Capital Adjustment Account) 

(8,902) 

(5,927) Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances 
(transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account) 

(7,846) 

(15,207) Total Adjustments between Capital and Revenue 
Resources 

(16,748) 

(11,690) Total Adjustments  (6,050) 
 
6.  Unusable Reserves 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

841 
69,033 

(4) 

Revaluation Reserve 
Capital Adjustment Account 
Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 

769 
75,169 

(18) 
69,870  75,920 

 
 Revaluation Reserve 
 
 The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from 

increases in the value of its property, plant and equipment (and intangible assets).  
The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are: 

 
·  re-valued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 
·  used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through 

depreciation, or 
·  disposed of and the gains are realised 

 
 The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the 

date that the Reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that date are 
consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 
2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

840 
1 
0 

Balance as at 1 April  
Upward revaluation of assets 
Difference between fair value depreciation and 
historical cost depreciation 

841 
0 

(72) 

841 Balance as at 31 March  769 
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 Capital Adjustment Account 
 
 The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the 

different arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and 
for financing the acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under 
statutory provisions.  The account is charged with the cost of acquisition, construction 
or enhancement, as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged 
to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings 
from the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis).  
The account is credited with the amounts set aside by the Authority as finance for the 
costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement.   

 
 The account also contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and 

Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to 
hold such gains. 

 
2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

57,331 
 
 
 

(3,504) 
 

(9,457) 

Balance as at 1 April  
Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure 
debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement: 
Charges for depreciation, amortisation and impairment 
of non-current assets 
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statue 
Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal 
or sale as part of gains/ losses on disposal to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

69,033 
 
 
 

(10,685) 
 

(87,392) 

(12,961)  (98,077) 
(1) Adjusting amounts written out of the Revenue Reserve 74 

(12,962) Net written out amount of the costs of non -current  
assets consumed in the year 

(98,003) 

 
 

9,457 
 

9,280 
 

5,927 
 

0 

Capital financing applied in the year  
Capital grants and contributions credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
that have been applied to capital financing 
Statutory provision for the financing of capital 
expenditure against the General Fund Balance 
Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund 
Balance 
Use of Tunnels Repair and Renewal Reserve to 
finance capital expenditure 

 
 

87,392 
 

8,902 
 

7,500 
 

345 

24,664  104,139 
69,033 Balance as at 31 March  75,169 

 
 Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 
 
 The Financial Instruments Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising 

from the different arrangements for accounting for income and expenses relating to 
certain financial instruments and for bearing or benefiting from gains as per statutory 
provisions. 
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2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

8 
 

(13) 

Balance as at 1 April  
Amounts charged in respect of premiums and 
discounts in accordance with statutory requirements 

(5) 
 

(13) 
(5) Balance as at 31 March  (18) 

 
7.  Usable and Earmarked Reserves 
 
 This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund balances in 

earmarked reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans and the 
amounts posted back from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure in 
2016/17. 

 
 Balance 

at 1 April 
2015 
Restated  

Transfers 
Out 
2015/16 

Transfers 
In 
2015/16 

Balance 
at 31 
March 
2016 
Restated  

Transfers 
Out 
2016/17 

Transfers 
In 
2016/17 

Balance 
at 31 
March 
2017 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Capital Reserve (a) 9,021 0 0 9,021 0 0 9,021 
Infrastructure 
Reserve (b) 

21,628 0 21,585 43,213 0 10,286 53,499 

Revenue Reserve 
(c) 

1,142 0 0 1,142 0 5,980 7,122 

Rail Financing 
Reserve (d) 

49,520 0 0 49,520 0 0 49,520 

Restructuring 
Reserve (e) 

1,286 0 0 1,286 0 0 1,286 

Grant/Contributions 
Unapplied Reserve 
(f) 

8,082 0 6,192 14,274 0 0 14,274 

Tunnels Reserve 
and Renewals 
Fund (g) 

5,757 0 0 5,757 (346) 0 5,411 

Other reserves 0 0 0 0 0 23 23 
Total 96,436 0 27,777 124,213 (346) 16,289 140,156 

 
(a) The capital reserve is used to support the funding of the capital programme. 
(b) The infrastructure reserve has been created to support the strategic decisions 

of the LCRCA. 
(c) The revenue reserve has been created to allow funding for unbudgeted 

financial events during the year. 
(d) The rail financing reserve has been created to support the delivery of a new 

rolling stock fleet. 
(e) The restructuring reserve is utilised to provide support to staffing cost 

implications of service transformation programmes. 
(f) The grants/contributions unapplied reserve represents capital grants that 

have been received but not yet utilised to support the delivery of the capital 
programme. 

(g) The tunnels reserve and renewals fund is used to support the tunnel’s capital 
programme.  It is the LCRCA’s policy that the tunnels reserve and renewals 
fund shall not be less than £2.5m.  In the event that funds fall below the 
£2.5m threshold, budgetary provision in the following year will be made to 
restore the level to £2.5m.   
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8.  Financing and Investment Income 
 

2015-16 
£’000 

 2016-17 
£’000 

12,254 
(2,259) 

Interest Payable and Similar Charges 
Investment Income 

11,467 
(2,267) 

9,995 Total  9,200 
 

9.  Grant Income 
 
 The following grants and contributions have been credited to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement during the period. 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’0000 

81,522 
 

10,068 
32,000 

- 
1,550 

- 
- 

387 

DfT Special Rail Grant (pass ported through to 
Merseytravel) 
DfT Integrated Transport Block 
BEIS Local Growth Fund 
BEIS -Gain Share 
SFA Skills for Growth 
ESF Ways to Work 
SFA Apprenticeship Grant 
Other Grants and Contributions 

78,874 
 

23 
73,676 
7,881 
2,539 
6,626 
2,417 

233 
 
 The Authority has received a number of grants and contributions that have conditions 

attached to them.  These have not yet been recognised as income and will only be 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement once all 
conditions are met.  The balances at the year-end are as follows: 

 
2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’0000 

0 Gain Share 22,148 
0 Total  22,148 
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10.  Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
 Adjustments in respect of 2016/17 
 

Adjustments from 
General Fund to arrive at 

the CIES 

Adjustments 
for Capital 
Purposes 

Net change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjustments  

Other 
Differences 

Total 
Adjustments  

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
     
Highways and Transport 
Services 

(6,063) - 13 (6,050) 

Employment & Skills - - - - 
Corporate and Democratic 
Core 

- - - - 

Economic Development - - - - 
Mayoral Elections - - - - 
Net Cost of Services (6,063) - 13 (6,050) 
Other Income & 
Expenditure from the 
Funding Analysis 

- - - - 

Difference between General 
Fund surplus or deficit and 
CIES surplus or deficit 

(6,063) - 13 (6,050) 

 
Adjustments in Respect of 2015/16 
 

Adjustments from 
General Fund to arrive at 

the CIES 

Adjustments 
for Capital 
Purposes 

Net change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjustments  

Other 
Differences 

Total 
Adjustments  

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
     
Highways and Transport 
Services 

(11,703) - 13 
 

(11,690) 

Employment & Skills - - - - 
Corporate and Democratic 
Core 

- - - - 

Economic Development - - - - 
Mayoral Elections - - - - 
Net Cost of Services (11,703) - 13 (11,690) 
Other Income & 
Expenditure from the 
Funding Analysis 

- - - - 

Difference between General 
Fund surplus or deficit and 
CIES surplus or deficit 

(11,703) - 13 (11,690) 

 
Adjustments for capital purposes 
 
This column adds in depreciation, impairment and revaluation gains and losses in the 
service line, adjusts for the statutory charge for Minimum Revenue Provision and 
other income contributions that are not chargeable under proper accounting practice. 
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Other Differences 
 
These are the amounts debited or credited to the CIES and amounts payable/ 
receivable to be recognised under statute in respect of premiums and discounts. 

 
Income and Expenditure Analysed by Type 

 

 
11.  Audit Fees 
 
 The table below discloses the fees paid to the Authority’s external auditor, KPMG in 

respect of its external audit and inspection work.  
 

2015-16 
£’000 

 2016-17 
£’000 

47 
4 

Audit of statutory accounts 
Grant audit work 

47 
3 

51 Total  50 
 
 
12.  Members Allowances and Expenses 
 
 The following sums paid to Members of the Merseytravel Committee by way of 

expenses/ allowances are detailed below. 
 

2015-16 
£’000 

 2016-17 
£’000 

185 Allowances and Expenses due to Elected Members 188 
 
13.  Officers Remuneration 
  
 During the year the Authority did not employ any staff to conduct the organisation’s 

business.  As detailed in note 14 below, during the year, the roles of the Statutory 
Officers of the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Treasurer were fulfilled 
by Officers from Liverpool City Council and Merseytravel. 

  

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

 Expenditure   
4,434 Employee benefits expenses 4,419 

223,767 Other services expenses 268,304 
7,074 Support services recharges 7,953 
3,695 Depreciation, amortisation, impairment 10,488 

12,433 Interest payments 11,467 
251,403 Total expenditure  302,631 

   
 Income   

(44,601) Fees, charges and other service income (42,741) 
(2,259) Interest and investment income (2,267) 

(244,010) Government grants and contributions (279,617) 
(290,870) Total income  (324,625) 

   
(39,467) (Surplus) or deficit on the Provision of Services  (21,994) 
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14.  Related Party Transactions 
 
 The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – 

bodies or individuals that have the potential to control or influence or to be controlled 
or influenced by the Authority. 

 
 Central Government 
 
 Central Government has significant influence over the general operations of the 

Authority as it is responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the 
Authority operates. A significant body of the funding received by the Authority comes 
from Central Government, which provide the majority of the Authority’s capital 
expenditure funding and Growth Deal funding provided as part of the Authority’s 
devolution deal.  In addition the Authority receives the Special Rail Grant which it 
passports to Merseytravel to support the operation of the local Merseytravel rail 
franchise.  Details on the funding received from the various government departments 
is detailed in note 9. 

 
 Merseyside Local Authorities 
 
 The Leaders/ Mayor of the Merseyside district councils and Halton all serve as 

Members to the LCRCA which has direct control over the Authority’s financial and 
operating policies.  Within their capacity as members of the Authority, in consultation 
with their respective district councils, Members approve the level of the Transport 
Levy raised annually to support the transport functions of the Authority.   

 
 The Authority operates a number of boards and committees below the Authority 

level, most notably the Transport Committee (formerly the Merseytravel Committee).  
These are comprised of Elected Members from the constituent district councils as 
nominated by their Leaders.  During the year no works and services were 
commissioned from companies in which Members had an interest. Details of the 
Elected Members that sit on the Combined Authority and its constituent boards are 
detailed in the AGS. 

 
 Whilst LCRCA is a separate legal entity, during the financial year 2016/17, the 

Authority did not directly employ any of its own employees.  During the year, the 
statutory functions of the Authority were fulfilled by Officers from the constituent 
member district councils.  For the financial year 2016/17 the roles of the Authority’s 
statutory officers of Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Treasurer were 
filled by officers from Liverpool and Merseytravel respectively.  No remuneration was 
made in respect of these function and no pecuniary interests disclosed.  

 
 To support the operation of the Authority, Merseytravel and the constituent district 

councils within the Liverpool City Region have provided support to the Authority to 
assist in the discharge of its functions. Recharges have been made by the respective 
districts to the Authority to recover the cost of providing elements of this support. 

 
Details of material income and expenditure are detailed below. 
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2015-16 
£’000 

 2016-17 
£’000 

 
113,700 

 
 

9,457 
- 
- 

Income  
Transport Levy 
 
Expenditure 
Capital Grants REFCUS 
General Expenditure 
Mayoral Election Expenses 

 
105,400 

 
 

41,257 
1,034 
1,532 

 
Merseytravel 

 
 The decisions of the Authority with respect to transport services across Merseyside 

are implemented by Merseytravel. The relationship between the Authority and the 
services provided by Merseytravel on behalf of the Authority are detailed in the 
narrative statement. Merseytravel’s activities are funded through capital and revenue 
grants from the Authority.  Details of material income and expenditure are detailed 
below. 

 
2015-16 

£’000 
 2016-17 

£’000 
 
95,765 
26,129 
2,690 

- 

Expenditure  
Merseytravel Grant 
Tunnels Operational Grant 
Capital Grants REFCUS 
General Expenditure 

 
94,400 
27,840 
46,135 

335 
 
15. Mersey Tunnels 
 

Operation of the Mersey Tunnels has been delegated by the Authority to 
Merseytravel. To meet the cost of operating the tunnels, Merseytravel is provided 
with a grant from the Authority which is in turn funded from tunnel tolls income. 

 
The Mersey Tunnels Act 2004 permits any operating surplus to be utilised by the 
Authority to achieve public transport policies in its local transport plan. In 2016/17 the 
surplus on operating the tunnels was £14.9m which was transferred to the Authority’s 
General Fund.  

 
During the year £0.35m was transferred from the Tunnels Reserve and Renewals 
Fund to support the Tunnels capital programme. The balance on the reserve as at 31 
March 2017 was £5.4m 
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16.  Property Plant and Equipment 
 
 Movement on Balances 2016/17 
 
 Infrastructure 

Assets 
Freehold 
Property 

Leasehold 
Property 

Vehicles , 
Plant and 
Machinery 

Surplus 
Assets 

Assets Under 
Construction 

Total  

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Cost or valuation  
As at 1 April 2016 308,899 5,734 5,142 1,793 55 0 321,623 
Additions 784 292 0 145 0 6,630 7,851 
Disposals 0 0 0 (11) 0 0 (11) 
As at 31 March 
2017 

309,683 6,026 5,142 1,927 55 6,630 329,463 

        
Depreciation and Impairment  
As at 1 April 2016 29,131 142 197 172 0 0 29,642 
Depreciation 9,975 208 197 304 1 0 10,685 
Disposals 0 0 0 (4) 0 0 (4) 
As at 31 March 
2017 

39,106 350 394 473 1 0 40,323 

        
Net Book Value  
As at 31 March 
2017 

270,577 5,676 4,748 1,455 54 6,630 289,140 

As at 31 March 
2016 

279,768 5,592 4,945 1,621 55 0 291,981 
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Movement on Balances 2015/16 

 Infrastructure 
Assets 

Freehold 
Property 

Leasehold 
Property 

Vehicles, 
Plant and 
Machinery 

Surplus 
Assets 

Total  

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Cost or Valuation  
As at 1 April 2015 303,822 5,166 5,142 1,516 55 315,701 
Additions 5,077 568 0 283 0 5,928 
Disposals 0 0 0 (6) 0 (6) 
As at 31 March 
2016 

308,899 5,734 5,142 1,793 55 321,623 

       
Depreciation and Impairment  
As at 1sApril 2015 25,947 0 0 0 0 25,947 
Depreciation 3,184 142 197 172 0 3,695 
As at 31 March 
2016 

29,131 142 197 172 0 29,642 

       
Net Book Value  
As at 31 March 
2016 

279,768 5,592 4,945 1,621 55 291,981 

As at 31 March 
2015 

277,875 5,166 5,142 1,516 55 289,754 
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Depreciation 
 
 The following useful lives and depreciation rates have been used in the calculation of 

depreciation: 
 

·  Infrastructure assets 1 – 74 years 
·  Freehold property  13 – 33 years 
·  Leasehold property 30 years 
·  Vehicles, plant and machinery 2 - 12 years 
·  Surplus assets 8 – 18 years 
·  Effects of Changes in Estimates 

 
 In 2016/17 the authority made a material change to its accounting estimates for 

property, plant and equipment. 
 
 Following a review of depreciation methods, the calculation of depreciation on all 

assets was changed from a diminishing balance method to a straight line method.  It 
was considered that the straight line method better reflects the pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits and service potential. 

 
 As a result the depreciation charge for all assets is £6,968k higher in 2016/17 than it 

would have been if the reducing balance had been used for the calculations.  The 
impact of this change will carry forward into 2017/18 and future years. 

 
 Revaluations  
 
 The authority carries out a rolling programme that ensures that all property plant and 

equipment required to be measured at current value is revalued at least every five 
years.  All valuations were carried out externally.  Valuations of land and buildings 
were carried out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set 
out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.  
Valuations of vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment are based on current prices 
where there is an active second hand market or latest list prices adjusted for the 
condition of the asset. 

 
 The significant assumptions applied in estimating the current values of property, plant 

and equipment are: 
 

·  That no deleterious material was used in the construction of any property and 
that none has been subsequently incorporated. 

·  That the properties are not subject to any unusual or especially onerous 
restrictions, encumbrances or outgoings and that good titles can be shown. 

·  That the properties and their values are unaffected by any matters which 
would be revealed by a local search or inspection of any register and that the 
use and occupation are both legal. 

·  That inspection of those parts which have not been inspected would not 
cause alteration to the opinion of value. 

·  That the land and properties are not contaminated nor adversely affected by 
radon. 

 
 Infrastructure assets (gross book value £309,683k) and assets under construction 

(gross book value £6,630k) are carried at historical cost.  The remaining categories 
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of property, plant and equipment (gross book value £13,150k) are carried at current 
value with the last full valuation being undertaken at 31 March 2014.  The next full 
valuation of these assets will take place during the 2017/18 financial year.  

 
 Capital Commitments 
 
 As at 31 March 2017, the authority has entered into a number of contracts for the 

construction or enhancement of property, plant and equipment in 2017/18 and future 
years budgeted to cost £3,927k.  Similar commitments at 31 March 2016 were 
£9,905k. 

 
 The major commitments are: 
 

 Mersey Tunnels - £3,927k 
 
17.  Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 
 
 The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table 

below together with the resources that have been used to finance it.  Where capital 
expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are 
used by the authority, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Finance 
Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the 
Council that has yet to be financed.  The CFR is analysed in the second part of this 
note. 

 
 2016/17 2015/16 
 £’000 £’000 
   
Opening Capital Financing Requirement  222,754 232,033 
   
Capital investment    
PPE 7,851 5,928 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute 87,392 9,457 
   
Sources of Finance    
Government grants and other contributions (87,392) (9,457) 
Direct revenue contributions (7,500) (5,927) 
Sums aside from revenue (345) 0 
Minimum Revenue Provision (8,902) (9,280) 
Capital receipts (6) 0 
   
Closing Capital Financing Requirement  213,852 222,754 
   
Explanation of movements in year:    
Decrease in underlying need to borrow (8,902) (9,279) 
Decrease in Capital Financing Requirement  (8,902) (9,279) 
 
18.  Long Term Debtors 
 
 The Authority has a long loan of £3,235k (£3,382k 2015/16) to Merseytravel which 

was made to fund the acquisition of the Beatles Story.  The loan is repayable in 
annual instalments and will expire in 2032/33.  Principal repayments in 2016/17 were 
£141k (134k 2015/16).  The loan is extinguished on consolidation into the group 
position.  
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19.  Short Term Debtors 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

281 
0 
0 

6,510 

Central Government 
Other Local Authorities 
NHS Bodies 
Other Entities 

94 
43 
0 

16,151 
6,791 Total  16,288 

 
20.  Inventories 
 

2015-16 
£’000 

 2016-17 
£’000 

565 Balance as at 1 April 600 
 

35 
Purchases 
Issues 
Write Off’s 

573 
(554) 

2 
600 Balance as at 31 March  621 

 
21.  Short Term Creditors 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

7,502 
2,645 

0 
41,354 

Central Government 
Other Local Authorities 
Public Corporations 
Other Entities 

0 
10,131 

0 
45,989 

51,501 Total  56,120 
 
 £30,200k is held by LCRCA and invested on behalf of Merseytravel.  This is included 

within the analysis above in Other Entities. 
 
22.  Provisions  
 
 As at 31 

March 2016 
 
 

£’000 

Expenditure 
charged to 

provision in 
year 
£’000 

Increase/ 
(decrease) 

in provision 
 

£’000 

As at 31 
March 2017 

 
 

£’000 
 
Employment Related Provision 
Contractual Provisions 
Contract Maintenance 
Provisions 
Government Initiatives 
Capital Expenditure 
 

 
39 
128 
0 
 

200 
1,300 

 
0 

(128) 
0 
 
0 

(255) 
 

 
0 

114 
0 
0 
 
0 
 

 
39 

114 
0 
 

200 
1,045 

Total  1,667 (383) 114 1,398 
 
Employment related provisions relate to pension obligations and provisions arising 
from job evaluation/ employment harmonisation. 
 
Contractual provisions relate to insurance claims. 
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Government initiatives relate to the purchase of carbon credits. 
 
Capital expenditure provision relates to possible clawback of ERDF grant.  
 
Provisions have been analysed by management between those likely to be settled in 
less than one year and those that have a longer duration.  The table below provides 
an analysis of the closing balances between long and short term provisions. 
 
 As at 31 March 

2016 
 

£’000 

As at 31 March 
2017 

 
£’000 

 
Short Term Provisions 
Long Term Provisions 
 

 
26 

1,641 

 
353 

1,045 

Total  1,667 1,398 
 
23.  Leases 
 
 Authority as Lessee 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

3,360 Not later than one year 3,360 
13,440 Between one and five years 13,440 
70,558 Over five years 67,198 
87,358 Total  83,998 

 
 Authority as Lessor 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

637 Not later than one year 694 
2,548 Between one and five years 2,775 
1,929 Over five years 1,349 
5,114 Total  4,818 
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24.  Financial Instruments 
 
Categories of Financial Instruments 
 

31 March 2016   31 March 2017  
Current  
£’000 

Long 
Term 
£’000 

 Current  
£’000 

Long Term  
£’000 

 
183,917 

 (18,983) 
832 

 
 

5,358 

 
3,382 

 
 
 
 
 

Investments  
Loans and Receivables 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Accrued Interest on Loan and 
Receivables 
 
Debtors  
Financial Assets carried at 
Contract Value 

 
220,506 
(24,987) 

1,396 
 
 

14,896 

 
3,234 

171,124 3,382 Total Financial Assets  211,811 3,234 
 

10,820 
 

30,200 
 
 
 

14,875 

 
202,707 

Borrowings  
Financial Liabilities at Amortised 
Cost 
Amounts deposited with 
Merseytravel 
 
Creditors 
Financial Liabilities carried at 
Contract Value 

 
10,827 

 
30,200 

 
 
 

18,732 

 
191,880 

55,895 202,707 Total Financial Liabilities  59,759 191,880 
 
 Income and Expenses through the CIES 
 

31 March 2016   31 March 2017  
Financial 
Liabilities 

£’000 

Financial 
Assets 
£’000 

 Financial 
Liabilities 

£’000 

Financial 
Assets 
£’000 

12,254  
(2,259) 

Interest Expense 
Interest Income 

11,467  
(2,467) 

12,254 (2,259) Net Income/ (Expense) for the 
Year 

11,467 (2,467) 

 
 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

(33,294) 
14,311 

Cash and Bank Current Account 
Short Term Deposits with Banks and Building 
Societies 

(44,642) 
19,655 

(18,983) Total Cash and Cash Equivalents  (24,987) 
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Analysis of Loans Outstanding 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

190,642 
22,885 

PWLB Debt 
Wirral MBC (transferred debt) 

182,111 
20,596 

213,527 Total Loans Outstanding  202,707 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

10,820 
10,827 
31,960 
48,094 

111,826 

Maturing within 12 months 
Maturing within 2 years 
Maturing within 2 to 5 years 
Maturing within 5-10 years 
Maturing in more than 1 years 

10,827 
10,649 
32,047 
44,086 

105,098 
213,527 Total Loans Outstanding  202,707 

 
 Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities 
 
 The Authority’s financial liabilities and financial assets are represented by loans, 

investments and long-term debtors which are carried on the Balance Sheet at 
amortised cost.  Their fair value can be assessed by calculating the present value of 
the cash flows that take place over the remaining life of the instrument (Level 2 
inputs) using the following assumptions: 

 
·  For loans from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB), premature repayment 

rates from the PWLB have been applied to provide the fair value under the 
PWLB debt redemption procedures; 

·  For loans receivable, prevailing benchmark market rates have been used to 
provide the fair value; 

·  No early repayment or impairment has been recognised; and 
·  For highly liquid or cash deposits which can be settled on demand and for 

trade receivable or payable, fair value is taken to be the carrying amount or 
billed amount. 

 
 The fair values of the Authority’s financial assets and liabilities at the Balance Sheet 

date are detailed below. 
 

31 March 2016   31 March 2017  
Carrying 

Value 
£’000 

Fair Value  
 

£’000 

 Carrying 
Value 
£’000 

Fair Value  
£’000 

 
184,608 
(18,983) 

 
169,883 
(18,983) 

Financial Assets  
Short term investments 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 
221,754 
(24,957) 

 
191,662 
(24,957) 

 
190,642 
22,885 
30,200 

 

 
291,012 
22,885 
30,200 

Financial Liabilities  
PWLB Debt 
Wirral MBC 
Amounts deposited from 
Merseytravel 
 

 
182,111 
20,596 
30,200 

 
305,659 
20,596 
30,200 
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 Nature and Extent of Risk Arising from Financial Instruments 
 
 The LCRCA’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks.  The key risks are:- 
 

·  Credit risk - the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to 
the LCRCA; 

·  Liquidity risk - the possibility that the LCRCA might not have funds available 
to meet its commitments to make payments; and 

·  Market risk - the possibility that financial loss might arise for the LCRCA as a 
result of changes in such measures as interest rates. 

 
 The LCRCA’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of 

financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the resources 
available to fund services.  Risk management is carried out by the Resources 
Directorate, under policies approved by the LCRCA in its Treasury Management 
Strategy.   

 

 Credit risk 
 
 Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit 

exposures to the Authority’s customers.  The risk is minimised through the Treasury 
Management Strategy.  Deposits are not made with banks and financial institutions 
unless they are rated independently with a minimum score of P1 and A3 (Moody’s) 
and/or F1 and A (Fitch’s), with weightings of the total amounted deposited in the 
highest rated categories.  The Authority has a policy of spreading its surplus 
balances over several institutions. 

 
 The following analysis summarises the LCRCA’s potential maximum exposure to 

credit risk on the other financial assets, based on experience of default and un-
collectability over the last five financial years, adjusted to reflect current market 
conditions: 

 
 Liquidity risk 
 
 As the Authority has ready access to borrowings from the Public Works Loans Board, 

there is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its 
commitments.  There is a future risk that the Authority will be bound to replenish a 
proportion of its borrowings at a time of unfavourable interest rates, however this risk 
is several decades in the future and will be significantly covered by Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP) balances.  Details of the maturity of debt are given earlier 
in this note. 

  
 Market Risk 
 
 Interest rate risk: The Authority is exposed to marginal risk in terms of its exposure to 

interest rate movements on its borrowings and investments.  Borrowings are not 
carried at fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate borrowings would not 
impact on the CIES or MIRS.  However, changes in interest payable and receivable 
on variable rate borrowings and investments will be posted to the CIES or MIRS.  
Movements in the fair value of fixed rate investments will be reflected in the MIRS. 

 
 Price Risk: The Authority does not generally invest in equity shares but the Group 

Accounts do reflect shareholdings in a number of subsidiaries. 
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 As the shareholdings have arisen in the acquisition of specific interests, the Group is 
not in a position to limit its exposure to price movements by diversifying its portfolio. 

 
 Foreign exchange risk:  The Authority has no financial assets or liabilities, 

denominated in foreign currencies and thus has no exposure to loss arising from 
movements in exchange rates. 

 
 In all cases, the carrying value of financial instruments is a reasonable approximation 

to fair value. 
 
 Hedging Instruments 
 
 The Authority holds no financial instruments that could be classified as hedging 

instruments. 
 
25.  Contingent Assets and Liabilities 
 
 The Authority has no contingent assets and liabilities. 
 
26.  Cashflow Statement  
 
 Cash Flow Statement Operating Activities 
 
 The cash flows for operating activities include the following items: 
 

2015/16  2016/17 
£’000  £’000 

(1,734) Interest received (1,720) 
12,254 Interest paid 11,467 

 
 The surplus or deficit on provision of services has been adjusted for the following 

non-cash movements: 
 

2015/16  2016/17 
£’000  £’000 

3,695 Depreciation and amortisation 10,685 
15,634 Increase/(decrease)  in creditors 5,000 

(512) Increase in debtors (9,351) 
(36) (Increase)/decrease in inventories (21) 

52 Other non-cash items charged to the net surplus on 
the provision of services (413) 

18,833  5,900 
 
 Cash Flow Statement Investing Activities 
 

2015/16  2016/17 
£’000  £’000 

(5,922) Purchase of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets (8,080) 

(52,162) Purchases and proceeds of short term investments (37,146) 
141 Other receipts from investing activities 22,149 

1 Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 0 
(57,942)  (23,077) 
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 Cash Flow Statement Financing Activities 
 

2015/16  2016/17 
£’000  £’000 

(13,873) Repayments of short and long term borrowing (10,820) 
(13,873)  (10,820) 
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LCRCA GROUP ACCOUNTS 
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MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT 
 
The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement from the start of the year to the 
end on the different reserves held by the authority analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those 
can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’.  
The Statement shows how the movements in year of the authority’s reserves are broken 
down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practices and the statutory adjustments required to return the amounts chargeable to 
General Fund for the year.  The Net Increase/Decrease line shows the statutory General 
Fund Balance movements in the year following those adjustments. 
 
The balances as at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2016 have been restated to eliminate 
negative reserve balances relating to the consolidation of non-material subsidiary balances.  
These subsidiaries have not been consolidated into the group accounts in the 2016-17 
financial year on the grounds of materiality.   
 
The restatement has increased total group reserves by £0.189m as at 31 March 2015 and 
£0.195m as at 31 March 2016. 
 
The results of the subsidiaries are detailed in the related parties note (note 15). 
 
Movement in Reserves Statement  
 
 Usable 

Reserves 
(General 
Fund 
Balance) 

Unusable 
Reserves 

Total 
Reserves 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Balance as 31 March 2015 (restated) 164,500 60,757 225,257 
    
Movement in Reserves during 2015/16    
Total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 39,724 9,877 49,601 

Adjustments between accounting basis and 
funding basis under regulations (note 5) (7,796) 7,796 0 

Increase/(Decrease) in 2015/16 31,928 17,673 49,601 
    
Balance as at 31 March 2016 carried forward 
(restated) 196,428 78,430 274,858 

    
Movement in Reserves during 2016/17    
Total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 59,399 (6,912) 52,487 

Adjustments between accounting basis and 
funding basis under regulations (note 5) (44,297) 44,297 0 

Increase/(Decrease) in 2016/17 15,102 37,385 52,487 
    
Balance as at 31 March 2017 carried forward 211,530 115,815 327,345 
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT 
 
This Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from 
taxation.  Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with Regulations; this 
may be different from the accounting cost.  The taxation position is shown in the Movement 
in Reserves Statement. 
 

2015/16  2016/17 
Notes  Gross 

Expenditure 
£’000 

Gross 
Income 
£’000 

Net 
Spend 

 
£’000 

 Gross 
Expenditure 

£’000 

Gross 
Income 
£’000 

Net 
Spend 

 
£’000 

 26,999 
100,487 
9,344 
44,601 
78,822 
2,612 
5,954 

 
 

8,331 
 
 

10,040 
 

0 
 

0 
 

11,160 
 
 

225 

(9,766) 
(100,922) 
(2,846) 
(44,601) 
(23,045) 

(166) 
(2,553) 

 
 

(8,787) 
 
 

(9,069) 
 

0 
 

0 
 

(11,160) 
 
 

0 

17,233 
(435) 
6,498 

0 
55,777 
2,446 
3,401 

 
 

(456) 
 
 

971 
 

0 
 

0 
 

0 
 
 

225 

Bus 
Rail 
Hubs 
Tunnels 
Travel Concession 
Policy 
People and 
Customer 
Development 
Corporate 
Management and 
Other Costs 
Mersey Ferries 
Group 
Transport Grants to 
Partners 
Employment and 
Skills 
Economic 
Development and 
Regeneration 
Corporate 
Management 
Mayoral Elections 

30,652 
100,948 
10,354 
26,416 
74,326 
2,738 
3,933 

 
 

3,636 
 
 

13,426 
 

21,733 
 

11,034 
 

5,768 
 
 

612 
 

1,532 

(12,107) 
(139,776) 

(3,225) 
(42,741) 
(18,716) 
(1,835) 
(512) 

 
 

(964) 
 
 

(9,479) 
 

0 
 

0 
 

(227) 
 
 

0 
 

0 

18,545 
(38,828) 

7,129 
(16,325) 
55,610 

903 
3,421 

 
 

2,672 
 
 

3,947 
 

21,733 
 

11,034 
 

5,541 
 
 

612 
 

1,532 
 298,575 (212,915) 85,660 Net Cost of 

Service 
307,108 (229,582) 77,526 

 
8 
 
 

8 
 
 
 

 102 
 
 

13,192 
 
 
 

(137,580) 
 

Other Operating 
Expenditure 
 
Financing and 
Investment Income 
 
Taxation and Non 
Specific Grant 
Income 

 104 
 
 

12,467 
 
 
 

(149,496) 

 (38,626) (Surplus ) or 
Deficit on the 
Provision of 
Services 

(59,401) 

 (9,877) 
 
 
 

(1,098) 

Remeasurement 
Gains/ Losses on 
Pension Assets/ 
Liabilities 
Joint Ventures 

6,912 
 
 
 

0 
 (10,975) Other 

Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 

6,912 

 (49,601) Total 
Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 

(52,489) 
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BALANCE SHEET 

 
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet Date of the assets and 
liabilities recognised by the authority.  The net assets of the authority (assets less liabilities) 
are matched by the reserves held by the authority.  Reserves are reported in two categories.  
The first category of reserves is usable reserves, ie those reserves that the authority may 
use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any 
statutory limitations on their use (for example the Capital Receipts Reserve that may only be 
used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt).  The second category of reserves is those 
that the authority is not able to use to provide services.  This category of reserves includes 
reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve) where 
amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are sold; and 
reserves that hold timing differences in the Movement in Reserves Statement line 
‘Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’. 
 
The balances as at 31 March 2016 have been restated to eliminate £0.195m of net liabilities 
relating to the consolidation of non-material subsidiary balances.  These subsidiaries have 
not been consolidated into the group accounts in the 2016-17 financial year on the grounds 
of materiality.  Note 4 details the restatements. 
 
The results of the subsidiaries are now noted in the related parties note (note 15). 
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As at 31 
March 2016 

Restated 

 As at 31 
March 2017 

Note 

£’000  £’000  
395,237 Property, Plant and Equipment 432,132 16 

1,161 Heritage Assets 1,161 18 
1,929 Intangible Assets 2,135 17 

758 Long-term Debtors 736 20 
399,085 Long-term Assets 436,164  

    
184,608 Short-term Investments 221,753 26 

1,073 Inventories 1,068 22 
25,027 Short-term Debtors 35,393 21 
29,733 Cash and Cash Equivalents 26,024 26 

240,441 Current Assets 284,238  
    

(10,820) Short-term Borrowing (10,826) 26 
(44,825) Short-term Creditors (49,676) 23 

(208) Provisions (730) 24 
0 Grant Receipts in Advance (26,589)  

(55,853) Current Liabilities (87,821)  
    

(177) Long-term Creditors 0  
(3,810) Provisions (2,736) 24 

(202,707) Long-term Borrowing (191,880) 26 
(94,246) Pension Liability (102,571) 10 
(7,876) Other Long-term Liabilities (8,051)  

(308,815) Long-term Liabilities (305,238)  
    

274,858 Net Assets 327,343  
    

196,428 Usable Reserves 211,530 7 
78,430 Unusable Reserves 115,813 6 

274,858 Total Reserves 327,343  
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 
Cash Flow Statement 
 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the authority 
during the reporting period.  The statement shows how the authority generates and uses 
cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing 
activities.  The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of 
the extent to which the operations of the authority are funded by way of taxation and grant 
income or from the recipients of services provided by the authority.  Investing activities 
represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which are 
intended to contribute to the authority’s future service delivery.  Cash flows arising from 
financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital 
(ie borrowing) to the authority. 
 
2015/16 

Restated 
 2016/17 Note 

£’000  £’000  
38,626 Net surplus on provision of services  59,401  

    
 

22,043 Adjustments to net surplus on the provision of 
services for non-cash movements 12,120 28 

    

0 
Adjustments to net surplus on the provision of 
services for items which are investing and financing 
activities 

(39,318) 
 

28 

60,669 Net cash inflows from Operating Activities 32,203  
    

(61,090) Investing activities (25,092) 28 
    

(10,773) Financing activities (10,820) 28 
    

(11,194) Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (3,709)  
    

40,927 Cash and cash equivalents as at 1sApril 29,733  
    

29,733 Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 March 26,024  
 
The 2015/16 cash flow statement has been restated to eliminate transactions relating to the 
consolidation of non-material subsidiary balances.  These subsidiaries have not been 
consolidated into the group accounts in the 2016-17 financial year on the grounds of 
materiality.  The results of the subsidiaries are noted in the related parties note (note 15). 
 
The exclusion of cash balances relating to non-material subsidiaries has reduced the 
opening and closing cash balances in 2015/16 by £28k and £10k respectively. 
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EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS 
2015/16  2016/17 

Net 
Expenditure 

Chargeable to 
the General 

Fund 

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis 

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES 

 Net 
Expenditure 
Chargeable 

to the 
General Fund  

Adjustments 
between 

funding and 
accounting 

basis 

Net 
Expenditure 
in the CIES 

£’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 
17,209 24 17,233 Bus 16,590 1,955 18,545 

(926) 491 (435) Rail 1,725 (40,553) (38,828) 
8,074 (1,576) 6,498 Hubs 7,163 (34) 7,129 

11,690 (11,690) - Tunnels (10,275) (6,050) (16,325) 
55,770 7 55,777 Travel 

Concession 
55,595 15 55,610 

2,774 (328) 2,446 Policy (185) 1,088 903 
4,111 (710) 3,401 People & 

Customer 
Development 

2,545 876 3,421 

2,733 (3,189) (456) Corporate 
Management 

(1,098) 3,770 2,672 

1,674 (703) 971 Mersey 
Ferries 
Group 

2,401 1,546 3,947 

- - - Transport 
Grant to 
Partners 

21,733 - 21,733 

- - - Employment 
& Skills 

11,034 - 11,034 

225 - 225 CDC 612 - 612 
- - - -Economic 

Development 
5,541 - 5,541 

- - - Mayoral 
Elections 

1,532 - 1,532 

103,333 (17,673) 85,660 Net Cost of 
Services 

114,912 (37,386) 77,526 

(134,163) 9,877 (124,286) Other 
Income & 

Expenditure 

(130,013) (6,912) (136,925) 
 

(30,830) (7,796) (38,626) Surplus or 
deficit 

(15,102) (44,297) (59,399) 

(1,098) - (1,098) Joint 
Ventures 

- - - 

(31,928) (7,796) (39,724) Surplus or 
deficit 

(15,102) (44,297) (59,399) 

(164,500) - - Opening 
General 

Fund 
Balance at 1 

April 

(196,428) - - 

(31,928) - - Less/plus 
Surplus or 
Deficit on 
General 

Fund in Year 

(15,102) - - 

(196,428) - - Closing 
General 

Fund 
Reserves at 

31 March 

(211,530) - - 
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2  Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates And Un certainties 
 
 The preparation of the Authority’s accounts requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported as 
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities reported in the accounts.  Uncertainty 
about these assumption and estimates could result in outcomes that require a 
material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in future periods.  

 
 In terms of the Authority’s Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2017, the items for which 

there is a significant risk of material adjustment are as follows: 
 

·  Pension benefits: the cost of defined benefit pension plans is determined 
using an independent actuarial valuation, involving the use of assumptions 
about discount rates, returns on assets, future salary increases, mortality 
rates and future pension increases.  Such assumptions are reviewed are 
each period end and determined jointly between the pension fund 
management and the actuaries. 

·  Property, Plant and Equipment: for assets held at historical cost the carrying 
value is initial cost less accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation is calculated 
on a straight line basis over the expected useful life, which is the best 
estimate of the life of the asset as provided for by independent experts.  For 
assets held at valuation, a full valuation is performed every five years by an 
independent external valuer.  Impairment reviews are conducted annually by 
management. 

·  Merseytravel has examined all its significant lease agreements to establish 
whether these should be classed as operational or finance leases.  Where the 
application of IAS 17 does not provide a definitive solution, judgement is 
applied in determining whether the lease is operating or financial.  Based on 
this assessment all Merseytravel’s leases have been assessed to be 
operational.  

·  Provisions for doubtful debts: as at 31 March 2017 the Authority has £35.39m 
short term debtors.  The recoverability of debts are reviewed annually and 
provision is made for any debts over 12 months old or for which there is 
evidence of the initial debt being unrecoverable. 

·  Group accounts: the Authority has a number of interests in other entities 
which fall within the group boundary.  Whilst some of these are deemed to be 
material and are therefore consolidated into group accounts, others are 
considered not sufficiently material to warrant full group account disclosures.  
To ensure there is sufficient visibility on these arrangements, narrative 
disclosures on these arrangements are included within note 15. 

 
3.  Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted 
 
 There are several amendments to International Financial Reporting Standards that 

will apply from 1 April 2017, namely reporting of pension fund scheme transaction 
costs and reporting on investment concentration, however these are not expected to 
have a material impact on the Authority’s accounts and as such no further disclosure 
is required. 

 
4.  Changes in Accounting Policy 
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 The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 
has introduced new formats and reporting requirements for the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement and the Movement in Reserves Statement, 
alongside the introduction of the new Expenditure and Funding Analysis as a result of 
the CIPFA Telling the Story review of the presentation of local authority financial 
statements.  Under the revised Code, the service analysis on the face of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement must be based on the 
organisational structure under which the organisation  operates and manages its 
services.  The statement has consequently been prepared on the basis on which 
Merseytravel report its budget and in year monitoring. 

 
 In 2016/17 the authority reviewed the accounting treatment of its minor subsidiaries 

and has taken the decision, that on the grounds of materiality, the results of these 
subsidiaries will be reported as part of the related parties note (note 15).  In the 
2015/16 financial statements, and earlier years, the results of these subsidiaries were 
consolidated into the group accounts. 

 
 The 2015/16 Group Balance Sheet, Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement, Movement in Reserves Statement and Cash Flow (the primary 
statements) have been restated to eliminate the results of the subsidiaries.  A 
restated Balance Sheet for the financial year ending 31 March 2015 has not been 
prepared due to the immaterial nature of the balances. 

 
 The fully restated primary statements are provided on pages 66 to70.  The 

adjustments that have been made to the primary statements over the version 
published in the 2015/16 Statement of Accounts are as follows: 
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 LCRCA Group Restated Balance Sheet 
 

 As Previously 
Stated 
2015/16 

Elimination of 
Subsidiary 
Balances 

As Restated  
2015/16 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Long-term Assets 399,085 0 399,085 
    
Short-term Investments 184,608 0 184,608 
Inventories 1,073 0 1,073 
Short-term Debtors 25,033 (6) 25,027 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 29,743 (10) 29,733 
Current Assets 240,457 (16) 240,441 
    
Short-term Borrowing (10,820) 0 (10,820) 
Short-term Creditors (44,860) 35 (44,825) 
Provisions (208) 0 (208) 
Current Liabilities (55,888) 35 (55,853) 
    
Long-term Creditors (177) 168 (9) 
Provisions (3,810) 0 (3,810) 
Long-term Borrowing (202,707) 0 (202,707) 
Pension Liability (94,246) 0 (94,246) 
Other Long-term Liabilities (8,051) 8 (8,043) 
Long-term Liabilities (308,991) 176 (308,815) 
    
Net Assets 274,663 195 274,858 
    
Usable Reserves 196,235 193 196,428 
Unusable Reserves 78,430 0 78,430 
Minority Interest (2) 2 0 
Total Reserves 274,663 195 274,858 
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LCRCA Group Restated CIES 
 
 Gross 

Expenditure 
as 

Previously 
Stated 
2015/16 

Gross 
Income as 
Previously 

Stated 
2015/16 

Net (Inc)/Exp 
as 

Previously 
Stated 

2015/16 

Eliminate 
Subsid 
Expend 

Eliminate 
Subsid 
Income 

Gross 
Expenditure 
as Restated 

2015/16 

Gross 
Income as 
Restated 
2015/16 

Net (Inc)/Exp as 
Restated 2016/16 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
         
Highways & Transport 
Services 

283,320 (199,861) 83,459 (99) 93 283,221 (199,768) 83,453 

Economic Development 11,160 (11,160) 0 0 0 11,160 (11,160) 0 
Corporate & Democratic 
Core 

225 0 225 0 0 225 0 225 

Non Distributed Costs 3,969 (26) 3,943 0 0 3,969 (26) 3,943 
Cost of Services 298,674 (211,047) 87,627 (99) 93 298,575 (210,954) 87,621 
         
Financing & Investment 
income 

15,732 (2,438) 13,294 0 0 15,732 (2,438) 13,294 

Taxation & Non Specific 
Grant Income 

0 (139,541) (139,541) 0 0 0 (139,541) (139,541) 

(Surplus)/Deficit on 
Provision of Services 

314,406 (353,026) (38,620) 0 0 314,307 (352,933) (38,626) 

         
Associates & Joint 
Ventures 0 (1,098) (1,098) 0 0 0 (1,098) (1,098) 

Remeasurements 
(Gains)/Losses 

 (9,877) (9,877) 0 0 0 (9,877) (9,877) 

Other Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 

0 (10,975) (10,975) 0 0 0 (10,975) (10,975) 

Total Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 

314,406 (364,001) (49,595) (99) 93 314,307 (363,908) (49,601) 

 



76 
FINANCE/MISC/LCRCA2017-17-SE+GROUPS/SJ/JG 
26.06.17 

 LCRCA Group Restated MiRS 
 

 Usable 
Reserves as 
Previously 

Stated 
2015/16 

 

Eliminate 
Subsidiary 
Balances in 

Usable 
Reserves 

 

Usable 
Reserves as 

Restated 
2015/16 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Opening balance 1 April 2015 164,313 187 164,500 
    
Surplus on the Provision of 
Services 38,620 6 38,626 

Other  Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 1,098 0 1,098 

Adjustments between accounting 
basis and funding basis under 
regulations (note 4) 

(7,796) 0 (7,796) 

Increase/(Decrease) in 2015/16 31,922 6 31,928 
    
Balance as at 31 March 2016  196,235 193 196,428 
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LCRCA Group Cashflow restatement 
 
 
  
 Cashflow 

as 
Previously 
Stated 
2015/16 
 

Eliminate 
Subsidiary 
Balances  
 

Cashflow 
as 
Restated 
2015/16 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Net deficit on the Provision of Services 38,620 6 38,626 

    

Adjustments for non-cash movements 22,032 11 22,043 

Net cash flow from operating activities 60,652 17 60,669 

Net cash flows from investing activities (61,090) 0 (61,090) 

Net cash flows from financing activities (10,773) 0 (10,773) 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (11,211) 17 (11,194) 

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 April 40,954 (27) 40,927 

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 March 29,743 (10) 29,733 

 Cashflow 
as 
Previously 
Stated 
2015/16 
 

Eliminate 
Subsidiary 
Balances  
 

Cashflow 
as 
Restated 
2015/16 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Net deficit on the Provision of Services 38,620 6 38,626 

    

Adjustments for non-cash movements 22,032 11 22,043 

Net cash flow from operating activities 60,652 17 60,669 
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5.  Adjustments between Accounting Base and Funding u nder Regulation 
 
 
 

 
6.  Unusable Reserves 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

12,674 
160,006 

(4) 
(94,246) 

0 

Revaluation Reserve 
Capital Adjustment Account 
Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 
Pension Reserve 
Accumulating Absences Account 

12,154 
206,621 

(18) 
(102,571) 

(373) 
78,430 Total  115,813 

 
 
 
 
  

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

  
Adjustments to the Revenue Resources 

 

 Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement are 
different from revenue in the year in accordance with 
statutory requirements: 

 

1,931 Pensions costs (transferred to the Pensions Reserve) 1,413 

13 Financial instruments (transferred to the Financial 
Instruments Adjustments Account) 

13 
 

0 Holiday Pay (transferred to the accumulated Absences 
Reserve 372 

5,467 
Reversal of entries included in the Surplus on the Provision of 
Services in relation to capital expenditure (these items are 
charged to the Capital Adjustment Account) 

(29,348) 

7,411 Total Adjust ments to Revenue Resources  (27,550) 
   
 Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources   

(9,280) Statutory provision for the repayment of debt (transfer from 
the Capital Adjustment Account) (8,902) 

(5,927) Capital expenditure financed from revenue balances (transfer 
to the Capital Adjustment Account) (7,846) 

(15,207) Total Adjustments between Revenue and Capital 
Resources  (16,748) 

(7,796) Total Adjustments  (44,298) 
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 Revaluation Reserve 
 
 The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Authority arising from 

increases in the value of its property, plant and equipment (and intangible assets).  
The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains are: 

 
·  re-valued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost 
·  used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through 

depreciation, or 
·  disposed of and the gains are realised 

 
 The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the 

date that the Reserve was created.  Accumulated gains arising before that date are 
consolidated into the balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 

 
2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

12,671 
3 
0 
 

Balance as at 1 April  
Upward revaluation of assets 
Difference between fair value depreciation and 
historical cost depreciation 

12,674 
0 

(520) 

12,674 Balance as at 31 March  12,154 
 
 Capital Adjustment Account 
 
 The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the 

different arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and 
for financing the acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under 
statutory provisions.  The account is charged with the cost of acquisition, construction 
or enhancement, as depreciation, impairment losses and amortisations are charged 
to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (with reconciling postings 
from the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures to a historical cost basis).  
The account is credited with the amounts set aside by the Authority as finance for the 
costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement.   

 
 The account also contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and 

Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to 
hold such gains. 
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2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

150,269 
 
 
 

(8,281) 
 

(9,457) 
(189) 

 

Balance as at 1 April  
Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure 
debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement: 
Charges for depreciation, amortisation and impairment 
of non-current assets 
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statue 
Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal 
or sale as part of gains/ losses on disposal to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

160,006 
 
 
 

(16,787) 
 

(41,257) 
0 
 

(17,927)  (58,044) 
0 Adjusting amounts written out of the Revaluation 

Reserve 
520 

(17,927) Net written out amount of the costs of non -current  
assets consumed in the year 

(57,524) 

 
12,475 

 
 

9,280 
 

5,927 
 

0 

Capital financing applied in the year  
Capital grants and contributions credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
that have been applied to capital financing 
Statutory provision for the financing of capital 
expenditure against the General Fund Balance 
Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund 
Balance 
Use of Tunnels Repair and Renewal Reserve to 
finance capital expenditure 

 
87,392 

 
 

8,902 
 

7,500 
 

345 

27,664  104,139 
160,006 Balance as at 31 March  206,621 

 
 Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 
 
 The Financial Instruments Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising 

from the different arrangements for accounting for income and expenses relating to 
certain financial instruments and for bearing or benefiting from gains as per statutory 
provisions. 

 
2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

8 
 

(13) 

Balance as at 1 April  
Amounts charged in respect of premiums and 
discounts in accordance with statutory requirements 

(5) 
 

(13) 
(5) Balance as at 31 March  (18) 

 
 Pensions Reserve 
 
 The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 

arrangements for accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in 
accordance with statutory provisions.  The Authority’s accounts for post-employment 
benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as the benefits 
are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities 
recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any 
resources set aside to meet the costs.  However, statutory arrangements require 
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benefits earned to be financed as the Authority through Merseytravel makes 
employer’s contributions to pensions funds or eventually pays any pensions for which 
it is directly responsible.  The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore 
represents a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and current 
employees and the resources the Authority has set aside to meet them.  The 
Statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time 
the benefits come to be paid.   

 
2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

(102,192) 
9,877 

 
(8,446) 

 
 

6,515 

Balance as at 1 April  
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability 
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits 
debited or credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement 
Employers pension contributions and direct payments 
to pensioners payable in the year 

(94,246) 
(6,912) 

 
(8,031) 

 
 

6,618 

(94,246) Balance as at 31 March  (102,571) 
 
 Accumulated Absences Account 
 
 The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise 

arise on the Revenue Reserve Balance from accruing for compensated absences 
earned but not taken in the year, eg annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 
March.  Statutory arrangements require that the impact on the Revenue Reserves 
Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account. 

 
2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

0 
 

0 
 

Balance as at 1 April  
Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
on an accruals basis is different from the remuneration 
chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory 
requirements 

0 
 

(372) 

0 Balance as at 31 March  (372) 
 
7.  Usable and Earmarked Reserves 
 
 LCRA Group -Movements in Earmarked Reserves 
 
 This note sets out the amounts set aside from the General Fund balances in 

earmarked reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans and the 
amounts posted back from earmarked reserves to meet General Fund expenditure in 
2016/17. 
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 Balance 

at 1 April 
2015 
Restated 

Transfers 
Out 
2015/16 

Transfers 
In 
2015/16 

Balance 
at 31 
March 
2016 
Restated 

Transfers 
Out 
2016/17 

Transfers 
In 
2016/17 

Balance 
at 31 
March 
2017 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Capital Reserve (a) 9,021 0 0 9,021 0 0 9,021 
Infrastructure 
Reserve (b) 

21,628 0 21,585 43,213 0 10,286 53,499 

Revenue Reserve 
(c) 

1,142 0 0 1,142 0 5,980 7,122 

Rail Financing 
Reserve (d) 

49,520 0 0 49,520 0 0 49,520 

Restructuring 
Reserve (e) 1,286 0 0 1,286 0 0 1,286 

Grant/Contributions 
Unapplied Reserve 
(f) 

8,082 0 6,192 14,274 0 0 14,274 

Tunnels Reserve 
and Renewals Fund 
(g) 

5,757 0 0 5,757 (346) 0 5,411 

Other reserves 0 0 0 0 0 23 23 
LCRA Earmarked 
Reserves 

96,436 0 27,777 124,213 (346) 16,289 140,156 

        
Capital Reserve (h) 7,613 0 1,563 9,176 0 0 9,176 
Rail Franchise 
Agreement Reserve 
(i) 

15,786 (1,532) 5,394 19,648 (2,347) 4,907 22,208 

Rail Financing 
Reserve (j) 

16,524 (2,629) 2,204 16,099 (3,245) 0 12,854 

Restructuring 
Reserve (k) 

4,070 (202) 500 4,368 0 0 4,368 

Grant/Contributions 
Unapplied Reserve 
(l) 

2,093 0 236 2,329 0 0 2,329 

OLR Reserve (m) 2,000 0 0 2,000 0 0 2,000 
Operational 
Reserves (n) 

7,211 (2,480) 0 4,731 0 0 4,731 

Sustainable 
Transport Reserve 
(o) 

1,832 (914) 0 918 (753) 60 225 

Other Reserves 8,355 (23) 1,581 9,913 (669) 688 9,932 
Merseytravel Group 
Earmarked 
Reserves 

65,484 (7,780) 11,478 69,182 (7,014) 5,655 67,823 

        
LCRA Group 
Earmarked 
Reserves 

161,920 (7,780) 39,255 193,395 (7,360) 21,944 207,979 

 
 LCRA Earmarked Reserves 
 

(a) The capital reserve is used to support the funding of the capital programme. 
(b) The infrastructure reserve has been created to support the strategic decisions 

of the LCRCA. 
(c) The revenue reserve has been created to allow funding for unbudgeted 

financial events during the year. 
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(d) The rail financing reserve has been created to support the delivery of a new 
rolling stock fleet. 

(e) The restructuring reserve is utilised to provide support to staffing cost 
implications of service transformation programmes. 

(f) The grants/contributions unapplied reserve represents capital grants that 
have been received but not yet utilised to support the delivery of the capital 
programme. 

(g) The tunnels reserve and renewals fund is used to support the tunnel’s capital 
programme.  It is the LCRCA’s policy that the tunnels reserve and renewals 
fund shall not be less than £2.5m.  In the event that funds fall below the 
£2.5m threshold, budgetary provision in the following year will be made to 
restore the level to £2.5m.   

 
 Merseytravel Group Earmarked Reserves 
 

(a) The capital reserve is used to support the funding of the capital programme. 
(b) The rail franchise agreement (benefit share) reserve is used to support 

development of strategic transport initiatives. 
(c) The rail financing reserve has been created to support the delivery of a new 

rolling stock fleet. 
(d) The restructuring reserve is utilised to provide support to staffing cost 

implications of service transformation programmes. 
(e) The grants/contributions unapplied reserve represents capital grants that 

have been received but not yet utilised to support the delivery of the capital 
programme. 

(f) The OLR (Operator of Last Resort) reserve has been created to provide 
funding should the incumbent rail operator experience difficulties in running 
the MEL franchise.  In this instance Merseytravel has step in rights to allow it 
to take over the running of the franchise until a new operator can be found. 

(g) Operational reserves are used to support the current transport network and 
ticketing initiatives. 

(h) The sustainable transport reserve supports the Local Growth Fund initiatives 
surrounding the STEP programme. 

 
8.  Other Operating Expenditure 
 

Restated  
2015-16 

£’000 

  
2016-17 

£’000 
102 Pension Administration Costs 104 
102 Total  104 

 
9.  Financing and Investment Income 
 

2015-16 
£’000 

 2016-17 
£’000 

10,632 
(7,466) 
12,285 
(2,259) 

Interest on Pension Liabilities 
Pension Interest on Plan Assets 
Interest Payable and Similar Charges 
Investment Income 

11,367 
(8,099) 
11,467 
(2,267) 

13, 921 Total  12,468 
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10.  Pensions 
 
 As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers, Merseytravel makes 

contributions towards the cost of post-employment benefits.  Although these benefits 
will not actually be payable until employees retire, Merseytravel has a commitment to 
make the payments (for those benefits) and to disclose them at the time that 
employees earn their future entitlement.  Merseytravel participates in Merseyside 
Pension Fund administered locally by Wirral Council – this is a funded defined benefit 
final salary scheme, meaning that Merseytravel and employees pay contributions into 
a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pensions liabilities with 
investment assets.  

 
 Transactions Relating to Post Employment Benefits 
 
 The following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement within the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services to 
comply with the reporting requirements of IAS 19 in respect of defined benefits 
schemes. 

 
2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

 
5,140 

38 
 
 

102 
 
 

3,166 

Net Cost of Service  
Current service cost 
Curtailments 
 
Other Operating Expenditure 
Administration expenses 
 
Financing and Investments Income 
Net interest expense 

 
4,789 

5 
 
 

104 
 
 

3,133 
8,446 Total Post Employment Benefits Charged to the 

CIES 
8,031 

  
The following transactions are then recognised in the Movement in Reserves as 
adjustments between the accounting basis and funding basis under Regulation. 

 
2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

  (8,446) 
 
 

6,515 

Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services 
 
Employers contribution payable to the Scheme 

(8,031) 
 
 

6,618 
 
 Pension Assets and Liabilities recognised in the Balance Sheet 
 
 The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the authority’s obligation in 

respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows: 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

326,220 
 

(231,974) 

Benefit obligation at end of the period 
 
Fair Value of plan assets at end of the period 

373,646 
 

(271,075) 
94,246 Deficit as at 31 March  102,571 
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 Reconciliation of the movement in the Fair Value of Scheme (Plan) Assets 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

235,932 Balance brought forward 31 March 231,974 
7,466 

(6,052) 
(102) 
6,515 
1,419 

(13,204) 

Interest on plan assets 
Remeasurement 
Administration expenses 
Employers contributions 
Members contributions 
Benefits/ transfers paid 

8,099 
35,015 

(104) 
6,618 
1,447 

(11,974) 
231,974 Balance carried forward 1 April  271,075 

 
 Reconciliation of Present Value of Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligations) 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

338,124 Balance brought forward 31 March 326,220 
5,140 

10,632 
1,419 

(15,929) 
38 

(13,204) 

Current service cost 
Interest on pension liabilities 
Member contribution 
Remeasurement (liabilities) 
Curtailments 
Benefits/ transfers paid 

4,789 
11,232 
1,447 

41,927 
5 

(11,974) 
326,220 Balance carried forward 1 April  373,646 
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As at 31 March the assets comprised: 
 

2015-16  2016-17 
Quoted 
£’000 

Unquoted 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

% 
of 

total 

 Quoted 
£’000 

Unquoted 
£’000 

Total 
£’000 

% 
of 

total 
 

50,174 
69,981 

 
0 
0 

 
50,174 
69,981 

 
21 
30 
 

Equities  
UK 
Global 
 

 
56,423 
88,953 

 
0 
0 

 
56,423 
88,953 

 
21 
33 

 
10,644 

 
5,619 
20,584 

 
0 
 

0 
0 

 
10,644 

 
5,619 
20,584 

 
5 
 
2 
9 

Bonds  
UK 
Government 
UK Corporate 
UK Index 
Linked 
 

 
10,843 

 
6,777 
24,126 

 
0 
 

0 
0 

 
10,843 

 
6,777 
24,126 

 
4 
 
3 
9 

 
0 
 

949 
 

0 
 

 
13,295 

 
3,682 

 
2,734 

 

 
13,295 

 
4,631 

 
2,734 

 

 
6 
2 
 
1 

Property  
UK Direct 
Property 
UK Managed 
Property 
Global 
Managed 
Property 
 

 
0 
 

813 
 

0 
 

 
12,741 

 
3,253 

 
4,337 

 

 
12,741 

 
4,066 

 
4,337 

 

 
5 
 
1 
 
2 

 
 

45 
0 

 
 

8,520 
7,461 

 
 

8,565 
7,461 

 
 
4 
3 

Private 
Equity 
UK 
Global 
 

 
 

27 
0 

 
 

9,217 
9,488 

 
 

9,244 
9,488 

 
 
3 
4 

 
7,974 

 

 
0 
 

 
7,974 

 

 
3 

Cash 
Cash 
Instruments 
 

 
9,217 

 

 
0 
 

 
9,217 

 

 
3 

 
587 

 
0 
 

0 
 

935 
 

4,016 
 

312 

 
1,253 

 
6,263 

 
4,660 

 
2,990 

 
6,618 

 
2,678 

 
1,840 

 
6,263 

 
4,660 

 
3,925 

 
10,634 

 
2,990 

 
1 
 
3 
 
2 
 
2 
 
5 
 
1 

Other  
Private Equity 
UK 
Private Equity 
Global 
Infrastructure 
UK 
Infrastructure 
Global 
Opportunities 
UK 
Opportunities 
Global 
 

 
0 
 

0 
 

271 
 

81 
 

4,310 
 

949 

 
1,979 

 
6,614 

 
5,394 

 
5,340 

 
6,696 

 
3,226 

 
1,979 

 
6,614 

 
5,665 

 
5,421 

 
11,006 

 
4,175 

 
- 
 
2 
 
2 
 
2 
 
4 
 
2 

171,820 60,154 231,974 100  202,790 68,285 271,075 100 
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 Actuarial Assumptions 
 
 Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit 

method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent 
on assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels etc.  The Local Government 
Pension Scheme liabilities have been assessed by Mercers, an independent firm of 
actuaries, estimates being based on the latest full valuation of the scheme.  The main 
assumptions used in their calculations are detailed in the table below. 

 
 2015-16 2016-17 
Base Assumptions 
 
Rate of CPI inflation 
Rate of increase in salaries 
Rate of increase in pensions 
Discount Rate 
 
Mortality Assumptions 
 
Life expectancy of male future pensioner aged 
65 in 20 years' time 
Life expectancy of female future pensioner 
aged 65 in 20 years' time 
Life expectancy of male current pensioner 
aged 65 
Life expectancy of female current pensioner 
aged 65 

 
 

2.0% 
3.5% 
2.0% 
3.5% 

 
 
 

24.9 
 

28.2 
 

22.5 
25.4 

 
 

2.3% 
3.8% 
2.3% 
2.5% 

 
 
 

24.9 
 

27.7 
 

21.9 
24.7 

 
 A sensitivity analysis has been provided by Mercers which provides an illustrative 

impact of marginal changes to the assumptions used in respect of the long term 
discount rate, inflation and life expectancy.  The results of this sensitivity analysis are 
detailed below. 

 
 Central 

 
 
 

£’000 

+0.1% p.a. 
discount 

rate 
 

£’000 

+0.1% p.a. 
inflation 

 
 

£’000 

+0.1% p.a. 
pay 

growth 
 
 

£’000 

1 year 
increase in 

life 
expectancy 

£’000 

Liabilities 373,646 367,802 379,584 374,881 381,269 
Assets (271,075) (271,075) (271,075) (271,075) (271,075) 
(Surplus)/ Deficit 102,571 96,727 108,509 103,806 110,194 
Projected service cost 
next year 

6,963 6,742 7,139 6,936 7,083 

Projected net interest cost 
for next year 

2,479 2,426 2,636 2,518 2,678 

 
 Impact on Merseytravel’s Cashflows 
 
 The objectives of the scheme are to keep employer’s contributions at as constant 

and affordable rate as possible.  Merseyside Pension Fund has agreed a strategy 
with the scheme’s actuary which was approved by the Pensions Committee in March 
2017.  Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis.  The next triennial valuation 
is due 1 April 2017. 
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 The fund is currently at 85% solvency and the objective is to recover the deficit over 

a reasonable timeframe and as quickly as participating employers can reasonably 
afford given other competing cost pressures.  The recovery period for the deficit is 
set by the Fund however employers may elect to select a shorter deficit recovery 
period if they wish.  The average recovery period for the Fund as a whole is 19 years 

 
 The scheme will need to take account of the national changes to the scheme under 

the Public Pensions Act 2013.  Under the Act, the Local Government Pension 
Scheme in England and Wales and the other main existing public service schemes 
may not provide benefits in relation to service after 31 March 2014 (or services after 
31 March 2015 for other main existing public service pension schemes in England 
and Wales).  The Act provides for scheme regulations to be made within a common 
framework, to establish new career average revalued earnings schemes to pay 
pensions and other benefits to certain public servants.  

 
 Merseytravel anticipates to pay £3.13m in contributions to the scheme in 2017-18 

excluding deficit payments. 
 
11.  Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
Note to EFA 2016/17 
 

Adjustments from General 
Fund to arrive at the CIES 

Adjustments 
for Capital 
Purposes 

Net change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjustments  

Other 
Differences 

Total 
Adjustments  

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
     
Bus 1,047 877 31 1,955 
Rail (41,071) 487 30 (40,554) 
Hubs (1,667) 1,558 75 (34) 
Travel Concessions 15 - - 15 
Policy 713 354 21 1,088 
Tunnels (6,063) - 13 (6,050) 
People & Customer 
Development 

114 723 39 876 

Corporate Management & 
Other Corporate Costs 

160 3,448 162 3,770 

Mersey Ferries Group 657 878 14 1,549 

Net Cost of Services (46,095) 8,325 385 (37,385) 
Other Income & Expenditure 
from the Funding Analysis 

- (6,912)  (6,912) 

Difference between General 
Fund surplus or deficit and 
CIES surplus or deficit 

(46,095) 1,413 385 (44,297) 
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Note to EFA 2015/16 
 
Adjustments from General 
Fund to arrive at the CIES 

Adjustments 
for Capital 
Purposes 

Net change 
for the 

Pensions 
Adjustments 

Other 
Differences 

Total 
Adjustments 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
     
Bus 904 (880)  24 
Rail 672 (370) 189 491 
Hubs (79) (1,497)  (1,576) 
Travel Concessions 7 -  7 
Tunnels (11,703) - 13 (11,690) 
Policy (2) (326)  (328) 
People & Customer 
Development 

20 (730)  (710) 

Corporate Management & 
Other Corporate Costs 

103 (3,290)  (3,187) 

Mersey Ferries Group 150 (853)  (703) 

Net Cost of Services (9,928) (7,946) 202 (17,672) 
Other Income & Expenditure 
from the Funding Analysis 

 9,877  9,877 

Difference between General 
Fund surplus or deficit and 
CIES surplus or deficit 

(9,928) 1,931 202 7,796 

 
Adjustments for capital purposes 
 
This column adds in depreciation, impairment and revaluation gains and losses in the 
service line, adjusts for the statutory charge for Minimum Revenue Provision and 
other income contributions that are not chargeable under proper accounting practice. 
 
Net Changes for Pension Adjustments 
 
Net changes for the removal of pension contributions and additions of IAS 19 
Employee Benefits pension related income and expenditure. For services this 
represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made by the Authority 
as allowed under statute and replaced with current service cost and past service 
cost. For financing and investment income this is the net interest on the defined 
benefit liability charged to the CIES. 
 
Other Differences 
 
These are the amounts debited or credited to the CIES and amounts payable/ 
receivable to be recognised under statute in respect of premiums and discounts and 
adjustments in respect of accumulating absences. 
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Income and Expenditure Analysed by Type 
 

 
12. Rail Concession Agreement (Benefit Share) 

 
Under the concession agreement in respect of Merseyrail Electrics (MEL), there is an 
agreement that surpluses above a certain threshold are shared between MEL and 
Merseytravel. Merseytravel’s net share for 2016/17 was £3.4m (2015/16 £3.9m). For 
2016/17 costs of £1.5m (2015/16 £1.5m) and income of £4.9m (2015/16 £5.4m) have 
been included in Merseytravel income and expenditure.  During the year there was 
also a call on this reserve of £0.8m to cover costs incurred in respect of the Rolling 
Stock replacement programme. 
 
The balance as at 31 March 2017 is £22.2m (2015/16 £19.6m) is included in useable 
reserves in the balance sheet. Agreed ongoing expenditure includes strengthening 
services on the Chester and Ormskirk Lines, funding the enhanced Chester-Liverpool 
train service and further improvements at Liverpool South Parkway. Discussions are 
on-going with MEL to determine the best use and maximum benefits to the travelling 
public for investing the remaining £22.2m. 

 
13. Officers Remuneration 
 
 As detailed in note 13 of the single entity accounts, during the year the Authority did 

not directly employ any staff.  The group position disclosed below relates to staff 
employed by the Merseytravel group. 

  

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

 Expenditure   
34,726 Employee benefits expenses 37,064 

245,494 Other services expenses 250,423 
12,934 Support services recharges 14,498 
8,720 Depreciation, amortisation, impairment 16,590 

12,433 Interest payments 11,467 
314,307 Total expenditure  330,042 

   
 Income   

(105,392) Fees, charges and other service income (104,143) 
(2,438) Interest and investment income (2,267) 

(245,103) Government grants and contributions (283,033) 
(352,933) Total income  (389,443) 

   
(38,626) (Surplus) or deficit on the Provision of Services  (59,401) 
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 Senior Officers Remuneration 
 
 The table below details the remuneration of the directors of Merseytravel. 
 
  Salary (incl 

Allowances)  
 

£’000 

Employers 
Pension 

Contribution  
£’000 

Total 
Remuneration  

 
£’000 

Chief Executive –David Brown 
(1) 

2015/16 96 13 109 

 2016/17 0 0 0 
Director of Integrated Transport 
(2) 

2015/16 135 19 154 

 2016/17 145 21 166 
Director of Corporate 
Development 

2015/16 107 15 122 

 2016/17 108 15 123 
Director of Resources 2015/16 102 15 117 
 2016/17 108 15 123 
 

(i) David Brown resigned from the post of Chief Executive/ Director General 8 
November 2015. 

(ii) Appointed as Interim Chief Executive and Director General 9 November 2015. 
 
 Employee Remuneration 
 
 The number of employees (excluding Merseytravel’s directors) in receipt of 

remuneration for the year of £50,000 or more is detailed below.  For the purpose of 
this note remuneration includes allowances, bonuses and severance pay but 
excludes employer’ pension contributions. 

 
Remuneration Range  2016-17 2015-16 
£50,000 to £54,999 16 12 
£55,000 to £59,999 6 6 
£60,000 to £64,999 1 3 
£65,000 to £69,999 6 6 
£70,000 to £74,999 1 1 
£75,000 to £79,999 0 0 
£80,000 to £84,999 3 2 
£85,000 to £89,999 1 1 
£90,000 to £94,999 2 0 
£95,000 to £99,999 0 0 
£100,000 to £104,000 0 1 
£105,000 to £109,999 0 0 
£125,000 to £129,999 1 1 
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Exit Packages 
 
Merseytravel 
Group 
Exit Package Cost 
Band 

No. of 
Compulsory 

Redundancies 

No. of other 
Departures 

agreed 

Total No. of Exit 
Packages by 

Cost Band 

Total Cost of 
Exit Packages 
in each Band 

16/17 15/16 16/17 15/16 16/17 15/16 16/17 
£000 

15/16 
£000 

£0 - £20,000 1 5 0 4 1 9 2 85 
£20,001 - £40,000 2 0 2 2 4 2 132 68 
£40,001 - £60,000 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 59 
£60,001 - £80,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
£80,001 - 
£100,000 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

£100,000 -
£150,000 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

TOTAL 3 5 2 7 5 12 134 212 
 
14.  Audit Fees 
 
 The table below details the fees paid to the external auditors, KPMG. 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

47 External Audit fees in respect of LCRCA 47 
4 External Audit Fees in respect of grant work 3 

38 External Audit fees in respect of Merseytravel 38 
89 Total  88 

 
15.  Related Party Transaction 
 
 The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – 

bodies or individuals that have the potential to control or influence or to be controlled 
or influenced by the Authority.  In addition to those related parties disclosed in note 
14 in the Authority’s single entity accounts, within the group there are interests within 
a number of subsidiary companies.  .  The table below details the principal 
undertakings. 

 
Name Parent  Holding  Nature of 

Business 
% Equity 
Interest 

Mersey Ferries Ltd Merseytravel Company limited 
by guarantee 

Passenger 
transport 

N/A 

Merseyside 
Passenger 
Transport Services 
Ltd 

Merseytravel 25 £1 ordinary 
shares 
375  £1 5% non-
cumulative 
preference shares 

Leasing 100% 

Real Time 
Information Group 
Ltd 

Merseytravel 1x £1 ordinary 
shares 

Real Time 
Information 
systems 

100% 

Accrington 
Technologies Ltd 

Merseytravel 500 £1 ordinary 
shares 

Smartcards 50.1% 

The Beatles Story Mersey Ferries 
Ltd 

290,000 £1 
ordinary shares 

Tourism 100% 
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 Certain directors of Merseytravel are also directors of the above companies.  Whilst 

these individuals are paid a salary by Merseytravel, no additional remuneration is 
received in respect of these directorships. 

  
 Under the relevant accounting standards all of the above fall to be classed as 

subsidiary undertakings and as such the financial performance of each should be 
consolidated into the group financial statements on an equity basis however as the 
financial performance of RTIG and Accrington Technologies is not considered 
material the financial performance has not been consolidated into the accounts. A 
summary of financial performance is detailed below: 

 
 Accrington Technologies – during the last two financial years the company has not 

traded and has received no income and incurred no expenditure. 
 
 Real Time Information Group (RTIG) – the disclosed profit after taxation for 2016/17 

was £3k.  
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16. Property Plant and Equipment 
 
 Movement on Balances 2016/17 

 
GROUP Infrastructu

re Assets 
Freehold 
Property 

Leasehold 
Property 

Vehicles , 
Plant and 
Machinery 

Surplus 
Assets 

Assets 
Under 

Constructio
n 

Total  

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Cost or valuation  
As at 1 April 
2016 

319,981 16,277 61,452 11,511 2,202 0 411,423 

Additions 1,767 854 1,628 1,239 0 48,366 53,854 
Disposals 0 0 0 (11) 0 0 (11) 
As at 31 
March 2017 

321,748 17,131 63,080 12,739 2,202 48,366 465,266 

        
Depreciation and Impairment  
As at 1 April 
2016 

12,675 547 1,731 1,233 0 0 16,186 

Depreciation 12,673 638 1,803 1,709 131 0 16,954 
Disposals 0 0 0 (4) 0 0 (4) 
As at 31 
March 2017 

25,348 1,185 3,534 2,936 131 0 33,134 

        
Net Book Value  
As at 31 
March 2017 

296,400 15,946 59,546 9,803 2,071 48,366 432,132 

As at 31  

March 2016 
307,306 15,730 59,721 10,278 2,202 0 395,237 

 
Movement on Balances 2015/16 
GROUP Infrastructure 

Assets 
Freehold 
Property 

Leasehold 
Property 

Vehicles, 
Plant and 
Machinery 

Surplus 
Assets 

Total  

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Cost or Valuation  
As at 1 April 2015 313,596 15,426 60,787 10,426 2,211 402,446 
Additions 6,385 851 665 1,091 0 8,992 
Disposals 0 0 0 (6) (9) (15) 
As at 31 March 2016  319,981 16,277 61,452 11,511 2,202 411,423 
       
Depreciation and Impairment  
As at 1 April 2015 7,542 0 0 0 0 7,542 
Depreciation 5,133 547 1,731 1,233 0 8,644 
As at 31 March 2016  12,675 547 1,731 1,233 0 16,186 
       
Net Book Value  
As at 31 March 2016  307,306 15,730 59,721 10,278 2,202 395,237 
As at 31 March 2015  306,054 15,426 60,787 10,426 2,211 394,904 
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 Depreciation 
 
 The following useful lives and depreciation rates have been used in the calculation of 

depreciation: 
 

·  Infrastructure assets 1 – 74 years 
·  Freehold property  8 – 37 years 
·  Leasehold property 8 – 55 years 
·  Vehicles, plant and machinery 1-16 years 
·  Surplus assets 8 – 18 years 
 

 Effects of Changes in Estimates 
 
 In 2016/17 the authority made a material change to its accounting estimates for 

property, plant and equipment. 
 
 Following a review of depreciation methods, the calculation of depreciation on all 

assets was changed from a diminishing balance method to a straight line method.  It 
was considered that the straight line method better reflects the pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits and service potential. 

 
 As a result the depreciation charge for all assets is £8,416k higher in 2016/17 than it 

would have been if the reducing balance had been used for the calculations.  The 
impact of this change will carry forward into 2017/18 and future years. 

 
 Revaluations 
 
 The authority carries out a rolling programme that ensures that all property plant and 

equipment required to be measured at current value is revalued at least every five 
years.  All valuations were carried out externally.  Valuations of land and buildings 
were carried out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set 
out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.  
Valuations of vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment are based on current prices 
where there is an active second hand market or latest list prices adjusted for the 
condition of the asset. 

 
 The significant assumptions applied in estimating the current values of property, plant 

and equipment are: 
 

·  That no deleterious material was used in the construction of any property and 
that none has been subsequently incorporated. 

·  That the properties are not subject to any unusual or especially onerous 
restrictions, encumbrances or outgoings and that good titles can be shown. 

·  That the properties and their values are unaffected by any matters which 
would be revealed by a local search or inspection of any register and that the 
use and occupation are both legal. 

·  That inspection of those parts which have not been inspected would not 
cause alteration to the opinion of value. 

·  No environmental assessment of the property (including its site) and 
neighbouring properties has been provided to or by the valuer and the valuer 
is not instructed to arrange consultants to investigate any matters with regard 
to flooding, contamination or the presence of radon gas or other hazardous 
substances.   
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 Infrastructure assets (gross book value £321,748k) and assets under construction 
(gross book value £48,366k) are carried at historical cost.  The remaining categories 
of property, plant and equipment (gross book value £95,152k) are carried at current 
value with the last full valuation being undertaken at 31 March 2014.  The next full 
valuation of these assets will take place during the 2017/18 financial year.  

 
 Capital Commitments 
 
 As at 31 March 2017, the authority has entered into a number of contracts for the 

construction or enhancement of property, plant and equipment in 2017/18 and future 
years budgeted to cost £321,544k.  Similar commitments at 31 March 2016 were 
£23,627k. 

 
 The major commitments are: 
 

·  Rolling stock - £276,082k 
·  Maghull North - £11,819k 
·  Newton-le-Willows - £12,764k 
·  Halton Curve - £16,185k 
 

17. Intangible Assets 
 

2015/16  2016/17 
Goodwill 

on 
Consolid

ation 

Licences 
& Fab 4D 

Film 

Total  Goodwill 
on 

Consolid
ation 

Licence
s & Fab 
4D Film 

Total  

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 
   Cost or valuation:     
   Opening balance:     

2,803 534 3,337 Gross carrying amount 2,803 555 3,358 
- - - Reclassification of assets - - - 
- 21 21 Additions in year - 264 264 

(1,108) (265) (1,373) Accumulated amortisation (1,108) (146) (1,429) 
1,695 290 1,985 Opening net carrying 

amount  
1,695 498 2,193 

       
   Amortisation and 

impairment: 
   

- (56) (56) Amortisation - (58) (58) 
1,695 234 1,929 Net carrying amount at 

end of year 
1,695 440 2,135 

       
   Comprising:     

2,803 555 3,358 Gross carrying amount 2,803 819 3,622 
(1,108) (321) (1,429) Accumulated 

amortisation 
(1,108) (379) (1,487) 

1,695 234 1,929  1,695 440 2,135 
 
 Goodwill of £1.7m relates to the acquisition by Mersey Ferries Limited of The Beatles 

Story.  For impairment testing purposes, this goodwill has been allocated to the 
wholly owned subsidiary, which forms part of the Mersey Ferries Group.  This 
represents the lowest level within the LCRCA at which goodwill is monitored for 
internal management purposes. 
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 Merseytravel has performed its annual impairment test as at 31 March 2017.  The 

recoverable amount of The Beatles Story is determined on a value in use basis using 
cash flow projections based on historical financial outturns.  The discount rate 
applied to the cash flows is 5.0% (2015: 6%).  The growth rate used to extrapolate 
the cash flows beyond the 2016/17 year period is 2% for expenditure and 5% for 
income growth based on prudent assumptions from reviewing actuals (2015/16 3% 
for expenditure and 1% for income).  

 
 Some sensitivity analysis was then applied to these assumptions resulting in little 

change to the original values.  The resultant calculation showed the value of implied 
goodwill was consistent with that shown in the group balance sheet and no 
impairment was required for 2016/17. 

 
18. Heritage Assets  
 
 2016/17 2015/16 
 £’000 £’000 
Statutes of King George and Queen Mary 300 300 
Day and Night sculpture 50 50 
Oblisque at Kings Square 100 100 
Art on the Network 194 194 
Albert Dock monument 385 385 
Bessie and Ken statues 69 69 
Other heritage assets 63 63 
Valuation as at 31 st March  1,161 1,161 
�

The Group holds a number of heritage assets which are primarily statues and 
artworks as detailed in the above table. 

The assets are not depreciated as depreciation charges are not required on heritage 
assets which have indefinite lives.  An impairment review is undertaken when the 
asset has suffered physical deterioration or breakage, or where new doubts arise as 
to its authenticity. 

 
19.  Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 
 
 The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table 

below together with the resources that have been used to finance it.  Where capital 
expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets are 
used by the authority, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Finance 
Requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the 
Council that has yet to be financed.  The CFR is analysed in the second part of this 
note. 
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 2016/17 2015/16 
 £’000 £’000 
   
Opening Capital Financing Requirement  225,895 235,089 
   
Capital investment    
PPE 53,854 8,992 
Intangible assets 264 21 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute 41,257 9,457 
   
Sources of Finance    
Government grants and other contributions (87,392) (12,457) 
Direct revenue contributions (7,500) (5,927) 
Sums aside from revenue (345) 0 
Minimum Revenue Provision (8,902) (9,280) 
Capital receipts (6) 0 
   
Closing Capital Financing Requirement  217,125 225,895 
   
Explanation of movements in year:    
Decrease in underlying need to borrow (8,770) (9,194) 
Decrease in Capital Financing Requirement  (8,770) (9,194) 
 
20.  Long Term Debtors 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

687 
68 
3 

Rechargeable Works (1) 
Loan to Restaurant (2) 
Other Debtors 

687 
48 
1 

758 Total  736 
 
21.  Short Term Debtor 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

2,240 
3,340 

26 
19,427 

Central Government 
Other Local Authorities 
NHS Bodies 
Other Entities 

3,050 
779 
30 

31,542 
25,033 Total  35,401 

(13) Provision for bad debt (8) 
25,020 Total  35,393 

 
A provision of £8k (£13k 2015/16) has been made for bad debt.  The table below provides 
an analysis of the movement in bad debt provision. 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

305 Balance as at 1 April 13 
3 

(248) 
(47) 

Charge for the year 
Amounts written off 
Amounts recovered 

5 
(7) 
(3) 

13 Balance as at 31 March  8 
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22.  Inventories 
 

2015-16 
£’000 

 2016-17 
£’000 

1,073 Balance as at 1 April 1,070 
 

(3) 
Purchases 
Issues 
Write Off’s 

630 
(633) 

2 
1,070 Balance as at 31 March  1,069 

 
23.  Short Term Creditors 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

9,069 
3,942 

10 
31,839 

Central Government 
Other Local Authorities 
Public Corporation 
Other Entities 

383 
11,568 

60 
37,665 

44,860 Total  49,676 
 
24.  Provisions 
 
 As at 31 

March 2016 
 
 

£’000 

Expenditure 
charged to 

provision in 
year 
£’000 

Increase/ 
(decrease) 

in provision 
 

£’000 

As at 31 
March 2017 

 
 

£’000 
 
Employment Related Provision 
Contractual Provisions 
Contract Maintenance 
Provisions 
Government Initiatives 
Capital Expenditure 
 

 
596 

1,017 
919 

 
200 

1,300 

 
(28) 

(215) 
(231) 

 
- 

(256) 

 
- 

162 
 
- 
- 
- 

 
569 
965 
688 

 
200 

1,044 

Total  4,033 (730) 162 3,466 
 
Employment related provisions relate to pension obligations and provisions arising 
from job evaluation/ employment harmonisation. 
 
Contractual provisions relate to insurance claims. 
 
Government initiatives relate to the purchase of carbon credits. 
 
Capital expenditure provision relates to possible clawback of ERDF grant.  
 
Provisions have been analysed by management between those likely to be settled in 
less than one year and those that have a longer duration.  The table below provides 
an analysis of the closing balances between long and short term provisions. 
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 Restated 
As at 31 March 

2016 
 

£’000 

As at 31 March 
2017 

 
£’000 

 
Short Term Provisions 
Long Term Provisions 
 

 
208 

3,828 

 
730 

2,736 

Total  4,033 3,466 
 
25.  Leases 
  
 Authority as Lessee 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

15,553 Not later than one year 15,664 
34,778 Between one and five years 22,667 
70,558 Over five years 67,198 

120,889 Total  105,529 
 
 Authority as Lessor 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

1,244 Not later than one year 1,247 
4,935 Between one and five years 4,988 
6,952 Over five years 5,445 

13,131 Total  11,680 
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26.  Financial Instruments 
 
 Categories of Financial Instruments 
 

31 March 2016   31 March 2017  
Current  
£’000 

Long 
Term 
£’000 

 Current  
£’000 

Long Term  
£’000 

 
183,811 
29,743 

832 
 
 
 

18,284 

0 
 
 
 
 
 
 

758 

Investments  
Loans and Receivables 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Accrued Interest on Loan and 
Receivables 
 
Debtors  
Financial Assets carried at 
Contract Value 

0 
220,358 
26,024 
1,396 

 
 
 

30,019 

0 
 
 
 
 
 
 

738 

279,357 758 Total Financial Assets  211,510 738 
 

10,820 
 
 
 

14,875 

 
202,707 

Borrowings  
Financial Liabilities at Amortised 
Cost 
 
Creditors 
Financial Liabilities carried at 
Contract Value 

 
10,827 

 
 
 

34,364 

 
191,880 

 202,707 Total Financial Liabilities  45,191 191,880 
 
 Income and Expenses through the CIES 
 

31 March 2016   31 March 2017  
Financial 
Liabilities 

£’000 

Financial 
Assets 
£’000 

 Financial 
Liabilities 

£’000 

Financial 
Assets 
£’000 

12,443  
(2,438) 

Interest Expense 
Interest Income 

11,640  
(2,640) 

12,443 (2,438) Net Income/ (Expense) for the 
Year 

11,640 (2,640) 

 
 Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

2015/16 
£’000 

 2016/17 
£’000 

15,432 
14,311 

Cash and Bank Current Account 
Short Term Deposits with Banks and Building 
Societies 

6,369 
19,655 

29,743 Total Cash and Cash Equivalents  26,024 
 
 Analysis of Loans Outstanding 
 
 All loans outstanding are financial liabilities of the Authority.  Fore details on 

composition and maturity please see the single entity accounts, note <>. 
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 Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities 
 
 The financial assets and liabilities for which it has been deemed a fair value is 

required all sit at the Authority single entity level and as such no further disclosure is 
made here. 

 
 Nature and Extent of Risk Arising from Financial Instruments 
 
 Please refer to note 24 in the single entity accounts for more detail. 
 
27.  Contingent Assets And Liabilities 
 
 As a result of an incident in which an asset was damaged, an insurance claim has 

been submitted to recover the costs arising from the repairs undertaken.  At this 
juncture there has been no acceptance of the claim by the insurers however 
acceptance of the claim would see a reimbursement of the organisation for the costs 
met to date.  

 
 There is a legal challenge to the procurement for the new rolling stock and depot 

maintenance arrangements for the MEL network.  The organisation is robustly 
defending this challenge but due to its nature the outcome and quantification of any 
liability is as yet unknown. 

 
 Since year end the Authority Group has been notified of a potential legal challenge 

seeking monies for breach of contract.  As yet the outcome of this challenge is 
currently unknown, it is not possible to accurately forecast the potential financial 
implications. 

 
28.  Cashflow Statement 
 
 Cash Flow Statement Operating Activities 
 
 The cash flows for operating activities include the following items: 
 
2015/16  2016/17 
£’000  £’000 
(1,734) Interest received (1,720) 
12,254 Interest paid 11,467 
 
 The surplus or deficit on provision of services has been adjusted for the following 

non-cash movements: 
 
2015/16  2016/17 
£’000  £’000 
8,838 Depreciation and amortisation 17,012 
13,642 Increase in creditors 4,488 
(2,310) Increase in debtors (10,360) 
(2) (Increase)/decrease in inventories 4 
1,931 Movement in pension liability 1,413 

(56) Other non-cash items charged to the net surplus on 
the provision of services (437) 

22,043  12,120 
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 The surplus or deficit on the provision of services has been adjusted for the following 
items that are investing and financing activities: 

 
2015/16  2016/17 
£’000  £’000 

0 Grants received for the financing of capital 
expenditure (39,318) 

0  (39,318) 
 
 Cash Flow Statement Investing Activities 
 
2015/16  2016/17 
£’000  £’000 

(9,006) Purchase of property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets (53,853) 

(52,162) Purchases and proceeds of short term investments (37,146) 
26 Other receipts from investing activities 65,907 
52 Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 0 
(61,090)  (25,092) 
 
 Cash Flow Statement Financing Activities 
 
2015/16  2016/17 
£’000  £’000 
(10,773) Repayments of short and long term borrowing (10,820) 
(10,773)  (10,820) 
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GLOSSARY OF FINANCIAL TERMS 
 
Accounting Policies 
Those specific principles, bases, conventions, rules and practices applied that specify how 
the effects of transactions and other events are to be reflected in the financial statements. 
 
Accruals 
The concept that income and expenditure are recognised as they are earned or incurred, not 
as money is received or paid. 
 
Agent/Agency 
Where the organisation is acting as an intermediary, as opposed to on its own behalf. 
 
Amortisation 
The accounting technique of recognising a cost or item of income in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement or the Movement in Reserves Statement over a period 
of years rather than when the initial payment is made. 
Its purpose is to charge/credit the cost/income over the accounting periods that gain benefit 
for the respective item. 
The technique is supported by relevant accounting policies and practices. 
 
Amortised Cost 
A method of determining the Balance Sheet carrying amount and periodic charges to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement of a financial instrument based on the 
expected cash flows of that instrument. 
 
Capital Expenditure 
Expenditure on the acquisition or enhancement of a non-current asset or capital advances 
and loans to other individuals or other third parties. 
 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 
Introduced as a result of the Prudential Framework for Capital Accounting and measures the 
underlying need of the organisation to borrow for expenditure of a capital nature. 
 
Capital Receipts 
The proceeds from the sale of capital assets or repayment of capital advances. 
 
Carrying Amount 
The amount at which an asset is recognised after deducting any accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. 
 
Cash Equivalents 
Short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and which are subject to insignificant changes in value. 
 
Cash Flows 
Inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents. 
 
Community Assets 
Assets that the Local Authority intends to hold in perpetuity, that have no determinable 
useful life and that may have restrictions on their disposal.  Examples include parks and 
public open spaces. 
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Contingent Asset 
An asset arising from past events where its existence can only be confirmed by one or more 
uncertain events not wholly within the control of the organisation. 
 
Contingent Liability 
A condition which exists at the balance sheet date, where the outcome will be confirmed only 
on the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events.  Where a 
material loss can be estimated with reasonable accuracy a contingent liability is accrued in 
the financial statements.  If, however, a loss cannot be accurately estimated or the event is 
not considered sufficiently certain, it will be disclosed in a note to the balance sheet. 
 
Creditors 
Financial liabilities arising from the contractual obligation to pay cash in the future for goods 
or services or other benefits that have been received or supplied. 
 
Credit Risk 
The possibility that one party to a financial instrument will fail to meet their contractual 
obligations, causing a loss to the other party. 
 
Current Replacement Cost 
The cost the organisation would incur to acquire the asset on the reporting date. 
 
Current Service Cost (Pensions) 
The increase in the present value of liabilities resulting from employee service in the period. 
 
Curtailment (Pensions) 
An event that reduces the expected years of future service of present employees or reduces 
for a number of employees the accrual of defined benefits for some or all of their future 
service.  Curtailments include : 
 
(i)  termination of employees services earlier than expected, for example as a result of 

closing or discontinuing a segment of a business; and 
(ii)  termination of, or amendment to the terms of, a defined benefit plan so that some or 

all future service by current employees will no longer qualify for benefits or will qualify 
only for reduced benefits. 

 
Debtors 
Financial assets arising from the obligation to a future cash receipt for goods or services or 
other benefits that have been delivered or provided. 
 
Defined Benefit Plan  
A pension or other retirement benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan.  Usually, 
the plan rules define the benefits independently of the contributions payable, and the 
benefits are not directly related to the investments of the plan.  The plan may be funded or 
un-funded (including notionally funded). 
 
Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC) 
A method of valuation which provides the current cost of replacing an asset with its modern 
equivalent less deductions for all physical deterioration and all relevant forms of 
obsolescence. 
 
Depreciation 
The measure of the wearing out, consumption or other reduction in the useful life of a non-
current asset over its useful economic life. 
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Discretionary Benefits 
Retirement benefits which the employer has no legal, contractual or constructive obligation 
to award and which are awarded under the organisation's discretionary powers. 
 
Existing Use Value (EUV 
The estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date of valuation 
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arms-length transaction after proper 
marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without 
compulsion assuming that the buyer is granted vacant possession of all parts of the property 
and disregarding potential alternative uses and any other characteristics that would cause its 
market value to differ from that needed to replace the remaining service potential at least 
cost. 
 
Fair Value 
The fair value of an asset is the price at which it could be exchanged in an arm's length 
transaction, less, where applicable, any grants receivable towards the purchase or use of the 
asset. 
 
Financial Instrument 
A contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another.  The term covers both financial assets and financial liabilities and 
includes both the most straightforward financial assets such as trade receivables (debtors) 
and trade payables (creditors) and the most complex ones such as derivatives. 
 
Typical financial instruments are:- 
 
(i) Liabilities 
�� Trade payables 
�� Borrowings 
�� Financial Guarantees 
(ii) Assets 
�� Bank deposits 
�� Trade receivables 
�� Loans receivable 
�� Investments 
 
Finance Lease 
A lease that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a non-current 
asset to the lessee, with the asset then recognised the lessee’s Balance Sheet. 
 
Financing Activities 
Activities that result in changes to the size and composition of the principal, received from or 
repaid to external providers of finance. 
 
Going Concern 
An assumption that the functions of the Authority will continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future. 
 
Government Grants And Contributions 
Assistance in the form of cash or transfers of resources to an Authority in return for past or 
future compliance with certain conditions relating to the operation of activities of the 
Authority. 
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Heritage Assets 
The Heritage Assets are assets that are held by the organisation principally for their 
contribution to knowledge, understanding and appreciation of the Borough’s history and/or 
culture. 
 
Historical Cost 
Deemed to be the carrying amount of an asset as at 1 April 2007 or at the date of 
acquisition, whichever date is the later, and adjusted for subsequent depreciation or 
impairment (if applicable). 
 
IAS19 
This International Accounting Standard (IAS) is based on the principle that an organisation 
should account for retirement benefits when it is committed to give them, even if the actual 
giving will be many years into the future. 
 
Impairment 
A reduction in the value of a non-current asset below its carrying amount on the balance 
sheet. 
 
Infrastructure Assets 
A class of non-current assets that are inalienable.  Examples of infrastructure assets are 
bridges, roads and footpaths. 
 
Intangible Fixed Asset 
"Non-financial" fixed assets that do not have physical substance but are identifiable and are 
controlled by the organisation through custody or legal rights eg software licences. 
 
Interest On Plan Assets (Pensions) 
The annual investment return on the fund assets based on an average of the expected long-
term return. 
 
Interest On Plan Liabilities (Pensions) 
The expected increase during the period in the present value of liabilities as the benefits 
move one year closer to being paid. 
 
Inventories 
The amount of unused or unconsumed stocks held in expectation of future use or resale. 
 
Investing Activities 
The acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other investments not included in cash 
equivalents. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
The possibility that one party will be unable to raise funds to meet its commitments 
associated with financial instruments. 
 
Market Risk 
The possibility that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
interest rates, market prices, foreign currency exchange rates, etc. 
 
Market Value 
The estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date of valuation 
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arms-length transaction after proper 
marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without 
compulsion. 
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Material/Materiality 
Omissions or mis-statements are material if they could, individually or collectively, influence 
the decisions or assessments of users made on the basis of the financial statements.  
Materiality depends on the size of the omission or mis-statement judged in the surrounding 
circumstances.  The nature or size of the item, or a combination of both, could be the 
determining factor. 
 
Net Book Value 
The amount at which fixed assets are included in the balance sheet, i.e. their historical cost 
or current value less the cumulative amount provided for depreciation. 
 
Net Realisable Value 
The open market value of the asset in its existing use (or open market value in the case of 
non-operational assets), less the expenses to be incurred in realising the asset. 
 
Non-Current Assets 
Assets that yield benefits to the Local Authority and the services it provides for a period of 
more than one year. 
 
Non-Operational Assets 
Non-current assets held by a Local Authority but not directly occupied, used or consumed in 
the delivery of services, or for the service or strategic objectives of the Authority. 
 
Operating Activities 
Activities of the Authority that are not investing or financing activities. 
 
Operating Leases 
A lease that does not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of a 
non-current asset to the lessee.  The asset is recognised on the lessor’s Balance Sheet.  
Expenditure financed by operating leasing does not count against capital allocations. 
 
Past Service Cost/Gain (Pensions) 
The increase or reduction in the present value of liabilities arising from decisions in the 
period whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier periods. 
 
Plan Liabilities (Or Plan Defined Benefit Obligatio ns) 
The liabilities of a defined benefit plan for outgoings due after the valuation date.  Plan 
liabilities measured using the projected unit credit method reflect the benefits that the 
employer is committed to provide for service up to the valuation date. 
 
Price Risk 
The risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market 
prices. 
 
Projected Unit Credit (Actuarial Cost) Method 
An accrued benefits valuation method in which the plan’s liabilities make allowance for 
projected earnings.  An accrued benefits valuation method is a valuation method in which 
the plan liabilities at the valuation date relate to:- 
 
(i)  the benefits for pensioners and deferred pensioners (i.e. individuals who have 

ceased to be active members but are entitled to benefits payable at a later date) and 
their dependants, allowing where appropriate for future increases; and 

(ii)  the accrued benefits for members in service on the valuation date. 
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The accrued benefits are the benefits for service up to a given point in time, whether vested 
rights or not.  Guidance on the method is given in the Guidance Note GN26 issued by the 
Faculty and Institute of Actuaries.  Under this method, the current service cost will increase 
as members of the plan approach retirement. 
 
Provisions 
A liability of uncertain timing or amount. 
 
REFCUS (Revenue Expenditure Financed From Capital U nder Statute) 
Expenditure that is classified as revenue in accordance with proper accounting practices, but 
which statute determines may be financed by Capital sources of funding. 
 
Related Parties 
Related parties are those individuals and entities that the Council either has the potential to 
influence or control (or be influenced or controlled by).  Related include central government, 
other bodies, its members and its chief officers. 
 
Related Party Transaction 
A related party transaction is the transfer of assets or liabilities or the performance of 
services by, to or for a related party irrespective of whether a charge is made.  Related party 
transactions include the provision of services to a related party. 
 
The materiality of related party transactions should be judged not only in terms of their 
significance to the authority, but also in relation to its related party. 
Re-Measurement (Pensions) 
The changes in estimated assets and liabilities, assessed by the actuary and arising 
because: 
 
(i)  events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions made for the last valuation 

(experience gains and 
 losses); or 
(ii)  the actuarial assumptions have changed. 
 
Remuneration 
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011 require the disclosure of amounts paid to Officers 
and define remuneration as:- 
 
‘……..all amounts paid to or receivable by a person, and includes sums due by way of 
expense allowance (so far as those sums are chargeable to United Kingdom income tax), 
and the estimated money value of any other benefits received by an employee otherwise 
than in cash.’ 
 
Retirement Benefits 
All forms of consideration given by an employer in exchange for services rendered by 
employees that are payable after the completion of employment.  Retirement benefits do not 
include termination benefits payable as a result of either:- 
 
(i)  an employer's decision to terminate an employee's employment before the normal 

retirement date; or 
(ii)  an employee's decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those 

benefits, because these are not given in exchange for services rendered by 
employees. 
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Revenue Expenditure 
This is money spent on the day-to-day running costs of providing services and includes 
salaries, goods and services. 
 
It is usually of a constantly recurring nature and produces no permanent asset. 
 
Senior Employees 
Senior employees are defined under the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, however 
within Merseytravel this is deemed to be the Directors and Chief Executive. 
 
Settlement (Pensions) 
An irrevocable action that relieves the employer of the primary responsibility for a pension 
obligation and eliminates 
 
significant risks relating to the obligation and the assets used to effect the settlement.  
Settlement includes the transfer 
 
of scheme assets and liabilities relating to a group of employees leaving the Authority's 
scheme. 
 
Termination Benefits 
Amounts payable as a result of either: 
 
(i)  an employer’s decision to terminate an employee’s employment before the normal 

retirement date; or 
(ii)  an employee’s decision to accept voluntary redundancy in exchange for those 

benefits. 
 
Useful Life 
The period over which the Local Authority will derive benefits from the use of a non-current 
asset. 
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PAGES NOT FORMING PART OF THE AUDITED ACCOUNTS 
 
 
Mersey Tunnel Management Revenue Account 
 
The accounts below are prepared on a management accounting basis and therefore exclude 
certain adjustments made under proper accounting practice as per the accounts. 
 

2015/16   2016/17 
£’000  £’000 

 Operating Expenditure  
 

 

4,434 Employees 4,419 
1,911 Premises 2,252 
1,700 Supplies and Services 1,488 

166 Transport 149 
7,077 Central Support Services 7,620 

15,288 Total Operating Expenditure  15,928 
   
 Asset Financing  

 
 

4,914 Capital Charges 4,412 
5,927 Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay 7,500 

   
   

10,841 Total Asset Financing  11,912 
 

26,129 
 
Total Expenditure 

 
27,840 

   
 Income  

 
 

44,198 Tolls Income 42,369 
403 Fees and Charges 372 

   
44,601 Total Income  42,741 

   
 

(18,472) 
 
(Surplus)/ Deficit 

 
(14,901) 
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PAGES NOT FORMING PART OF THE AUDITED ACCOUNTS 
 
 
Tunnels Balance Sheet 

 

As at 31 st 
March 2016  

 As at 31 st 
March 2017 

£’000  £’000 
5,035 Freehold Property 5,141 
1,621 Vehicles, Plant, Furniture & Equipment 1,456 

279,768 Infrastructure Assets 270,577 
0 Assets Under Construction 6,630 

450 Community Assets 450 
55 Surplus Assets 55 

286,929 Long -term Assets  284,309 
   

602 Inventories 621 
534 Short-term Debtors 354 

5 Rechargeable Accounts 56 
28,428 Cash and Cash Equivalents 37,496 
29,569 Current Assets  38,527 

   
(1,811) Deferred Liabilities (1,810) 

(811) Borrowing (827) 
(6,557) Short-term Creditors (7,854) 

(14) Provisions (152) 
(9,193) Current Liabilities  (10,643) 

   
(153) Provisions 0 

(19,473) Long-term Borrowing (18,819) 
(16,300) Deferred Liabilities (14,489) 
(35,926) Long -term Liabilities  (33,308) 

   
271,379 Net Assets  278,885 

   
5,756 Usable Reserves 5,411 

265,623 Unusable Reserves 273,474 
271,379 Total Reserves  278,885 

 


